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Right to the end
Surveying financial statements in annual reports

“Who’s like us?” is a popular question in many walks of life. It is 
a particularly appropriate question in financial reporting as decisions
on policies and presentations cannot be taken in a vacuum. They are
influenced by rules, recommendations, regulators and the reality of
what is happening in practice.

Over the years, Deloitte has published its survey of narrative
reporting, namely what is covered in the front half of the annual
report. Its 2008 survey “Write from the start” was published in
October 2008. In 2007 Deloitte made public for the first time,
merely as a powerpoint presentation, the results of its survey of 
the back half, namely the audited financial statements of UK listed
companies. The report generated considerable interest and, as 
a consequence, in 2008 the analysis is published in this report. 

“Right to the end” picks up where “Write from the start” finishes.
The financial statements of the same group of companies, split into
two categories, being investment trusts and other companies, have
been analysed.

The main fashions or findings in this 2008 survey are that for
companies other than investment trusts:

• 5% of listed companies surveyed had a modified audit opinion.
There were six emphases of matter paragraphs within these five
audit opinions, five related to going concern and one on
uncertainty around certain liabilities. Only one company had 
a qualified opinion arising from a disagreement about a
particular accounting treatment;

• For 51% of the companies, additional non-GAAP performance
measures were given on the face of the income statement. 
In other words, a majority of the companies were going beyond
the requirements of the standards to present additional
information, typically identifying “lumpy” items such as
fundamental reorganisations, disposal of fixed assets,
impairment losses and the consequences of applying fair value
accounting to certain financial instruments;

• 14% of companies did not identify any key sources of
estimation uncertainty or areas of critical judgements in their
financial statements. For the others, the most common issues
were around goodwill, pensions, tax and provisions. 
However, the disclosures tended to be generic in nature and
thus not terribly informative; and

• 88% of companies had share option schemes while 61% had
continuing exposure to defined benefit retirement obligations.

UK GAAP continues to be a feature of listed companies’ financial
reporting. 49% of companies, other than investment trusts,
continue to use UK GAAP for their parent company only financial
statements. This ranged from 39% of the smallest 350 companies
to 59% of the top 350 companies by market capitalisation. 
For investment trusts, 27% were group companies and therefore
required to use IFRS in their consolidated financial statements. 
For the remaining 73% which were single companies, this split
between 60% continuing to use UK GAAP and 13% choosing 
to use IFRS.

This report cannot answer all questions on current reporting
practices. But it is hoped that it has achieved its aim of identifying
the main fashions in the last reporting season and thus will inform
those making choices on policies and presentation for the next
round of annual reports.

1. Executive summary
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The main objectives of the survey were to discover:

• the level of variety in presentation of the primary statements in
listed companies’ financial statements;

• which critical judgements and key estimations directors consider
to be the most significant when preparing their financial
statements;

• how compliance with disclosure requirements and the
accounting policy choices made under IFRSs varied; and

• how many companies chose to adopt IFRSs for the parent only
financial statements, and how audit opinions varied.

The annual reports of 130 UK listed companies were surveyed to
determine current practice. This sample of companies is the same 
as that used for Deloitte’s recent publication “Write from the start”
which surveyed narrative reporting. The companies were split into
two groups being 30 investment trusts and 100 other companies.
Investment trusts are those companies classified by the Stock
Exchange as being in the industries of non-equity or equity
investment instruments (this excludes real estate investment trusts).
They have been treated as a separate population due to their
specialised nature and the particular needs of their investors. 
The sample was selected evenly and at random from three
categories being those within the top 350 companies by market
capitalisation at 29 April 2008, those in the smallest 350 by market
capitalisation, and those that fall in between those categories (the
‘middle’ group).

The annual reports used were those most recently available and
published in the period from 1 August 2007 to 31 July 2008.

Deloitte conducted a similar survey in 2007. Where possible and as
appropriate, the results from the 2007 survey have been included so
that the analysis is comparable year on year.

As noted above, the findings for investment trusts are analysed
separately within this publication. Sections 3 to 15 that follow
summarise the results for the 100 companies excluding investment
trusts and section 16 reviews the 30 investment trusts. 

This publication is structured in a similar way to that of most
financial statements, starting with analysis of the primary
statements, followed by the accounting policies and then the notes.

2. Survey objectives
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With the complexity of financial reporting ever on the increase, it is
no surprise that the average length of annual reports continues to
rise year on year. As discussed in “Write from the start”, it has
become increasingly challenging for companies to meet the
regulatory requirements for more disclosure, while still providing
shareholders with clear, concise and relevant information about their
business.

Figure 1 below sets out the results in total and by category of
company for the four most recent survey periods.

Annual reports ranged from 31 to 473 pages with the financial
statements covering from 13 to 175 pages. As a percentage of the
annual report as a whole, the financial statements fluctuated from
25% to 75%. The largest companies tended to dedicate more
pages to narrative reporting, with an average of only 43% of the
report being financial statements, compared to the average of 46%
across the sample. This was driven not only by the extensive
narrative reporting requirements, but also by the opportunity to
include financial disclosure requirements within the front half of the
report (such as discussion of the critical accounting policies and
judgements adopted by management). In comparison, the smallest
companies surveyed had an average of 53% of the annual report
taken up by the financial statements.

3. Overview of the financial statements*

• Annual reports are 34% longer in 2008 than in 2005.

• Financial statements range from 13 to 175 pages in length.

• One company has a qualified audit opinion, and a total of
five companies have an emphasis of matter paragraph.

MiddleTop 350
companies by market

capitalisation

Smallest 350
companies by market

capitalisation

Figure 1. What is the overall length of the annual report?
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*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.
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Figure 2. What is the length of the financial statements?
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Speed of reporting

As noted in “Write from the start”, the trend in speed of reporting
has improved on previous years. 61% of companies approved their
financial statements within 75 days of their year-end compared to
57% in the 2007 survey. This is likely to be a response to a new
deadline introduced by the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR)
requiring listed companies to publish their annual report within four
months of the year-end.

In 2008, 14% of companies reported between 76 to 90 days and
25% approved their accounts after 90 days. Four companies in the
survey reported after 120 days. Another four approved their
financial statements between 115 and 120 days after their year-end.
These eight companies in particular need to consider their ability to
comply with the new four month deadline introduced by the DTR.  

The top 350 companies were the quickest to report their results,
with 91% (2007: 82%) reporting within 75 days. The smallest 
350 companies were the slowest with 58% (2007: 47%) reporting
after 90 days. Both the middle group and smallest 350 companies
were slower in reporting in 2008 than 2007, with 18% (2007: 17%)
of the middle group approving their financial statements after 
90 days.

Reporting frameworks and auditors’ reports

Of the sample of companies chosen, one newly listed company was
adopting IFRS for the first time, whilst the remaining 99 had already
transitioned to IFRS in previous periods.

All but one company had an audit opinion under accounting policies
which are in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union (EU). The exception was a Guernsey company which reported
under IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB).

19 companies had further audit opinions under IFRSs as issued by
the IASB in addition to those adopted by the EU. This is an increase
on 2007 where only 13 companies within the sample had such audit
opinions. This indicates that the benefits derived from the inclusion
of such audit opinions (likely to be ease of reporting to fellow
companies in the USA) are being more widely realised. One FTSE100
company also had a third audit opinion provided under US GAAP. 

Figure 3. In accordance with which GAAP has the group audit opinion 
been given?
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Figure 4. Is the parent company reporting under IFRS?
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Figure 5. How many auditors’ reports have been presented?
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95% of audit opinions given were not modified. Of the remaining
five, four had an emphasis of matter paragraph in relation to going
concern; one of these companies had an additional emphasis of
matter paragraph in relation to uncertainty around loss adjustment
liabilities. The fifth company had both a qualified opinion arising
from a disagreement about accounting treatment and also an
emphasis of matter paragraph in relation to going concern
uncertainties due to reliance on continued support from related parties.

Discussion of the issues around going concern in the narrative
reporting of these five companies was minimal. Three companies
provided generic statements on going concern rather than
addressing the specific issues, whereas the remaining two companies
provided some indication of the particular issues. Only two
companies cross-referred from the narrative reporting to the financial
statements, of which one is shown in the example below.
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49% of companies reported results from their parent company
under IFRSs. A further 49% reported under UK GAAP. The two
remaining companies were exempt from producing consolidated
accounts (either through being a single listed entity with no
subsidiaries, or by having only dormant subsidiaries) and thus no
separate parent financial statements were applicable. This indicates
that opinions are split as to the benefits gained from moving to
IFRSs for parent companies. Such benefits include an ease in
reporting different entities under the same frameworks and thus
consistent accounting policies, as well as providing more comparability
between group and parent reporting. The benefits of remaining
under UK GAAP for parent companies include the exemption
available from having to publish cash flow statements, the
avoidance of dividend blocks caused by pre-acquisition reserves
under IFRSs and not having to invest in new reporting tools. 

The majority of entities provided one auditors’ report which covered
all opinions given, whether applicable to the consolidated accounts
or the parent company accounts. 39% of companies provided 
2 auditors’ reports, being a separate one for consolidated and
company accounts. British Telecommunications plc provided three
separate auditors’ reports, being one for consolidated accounts
covering both IFRS opinions (EU endorsed IFRSs and as issued by the
IASB), one for consolidated accounts under US GAAP and one for
the parent accounts.

Figure 6. What opinion was given in the audit report(s)?

Unqualified

95%

Emphasis of matter

Emphasis of matter & qualified

4% 1%

GoshawK Insurance Holdings plc, “Annual Report and Accounts 2007”
(Extract from Directors’ Report)

GoshawK Insurance Holdings plc, “Annual Report and Accounts 2007”
(Extract from Notes to the Financial Statements)
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The length of income statement, measured in number of lines from
the top to profit after tax, ranged from 7 to 30 lines. Figure 7 below
illustrates how this varies according to size of company.
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One of the IASB’s important, long-running and challenging projects
is that on financial statements presentation. A discussion paper was
issued on 16 October 2008 by both the IASB and the US standard-
setter, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). In the
meantime, there continues to be considerable variety in practice in
income statement presentation. Indeed, among the listed companies
sampled, it would be difficult to find two which were the same.

Such variety allows companies to adopt a presentation which is
most appropriate to their business, but hinders the reader’s ability 
to compare results with those of other entities.

Nearly all complied with the presentational requirements of
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements**, with only two
companies apparently not meeting the requirements. 
Non-compliance was due to: 

• not showing results from joint ventures as a separate line. 
These were included within operating profit and disclosed
separately in the joint venture note to the accounts; and

• not disclosing discontinued operations separately on the face 
of the income statement. A separate note to the accounts was
used to disclose relevant information relating to the
discontinued operation, including an analysis of the result from
the operation in both the current and prior years.

4. Income statement – results from operating
activities*

• Presentation of the income statement varies widely across
the sample.

• 98% of companies comply with minimum disclosure
requirements on the face of the income statement.

• 52% of companies present additional non-GAAP
performance measures on the face of the income statement.

* This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.

** For the purposes of this survey, all references to IAS 1 relate to the revised version dating from
2003; the new revised IAS 1 (September 2007) is effective only for periods begining on or
after 1 January 2009.

MiddleTop 350
companies by market
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Figure 7. How many lines, from top to profit after tax, are in the income 
statement?
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IAS 1 requires, as a minimum, separate disclosure on the face of the
income statement of revenue, finance costs, tax expense and profit
or loss. There is no specific requirement regarding the classification
of operating expenditure on the face of the income statement. 
IAS 1 recognises that both methods of showing expenses by
function and by nature have merit for different types of entities. 
This freedom is utilised in practice as illustrated in figure 8, opposite.
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The most common presentation (52%) was to classify expenses by
function, for example, as part of cost of sales or administrative
activities. At a minimum, this method requires an entity to disclose
its cost of sales separately from other expenses. 

Out of the 23 companies which did not classify their expenses by
function or nature on the face of the income statement, all of them
provided further detail in the notes. 

A further requirement of IAS 1 is that when an entity chooses to
present expenses by function (or, indeed, not classified at all)
additional information on the nature of expenses shall be disclosed.
Of the 75 companies which presented expenses on the face of the
income statement by function or which did not classify expenditure
at all, 68 complied with the requirement to provide further detail 
by nature (e.g. staff costs, depreciation etc.) in the notes.

Additional non-GAAP measures

As noted above, 98% of the companies sampled complied with the
presentation and disclosure requirements of IAS 1 for the face of the
income statement. What is perhaps more interesting is that 51% of
companies went beyond the IAS requirements to present additional
non-GAAP performance measures on the face of the income
statement. 

Figure 8. How are expenses presented on the face of the income 
statement?
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Figure 9. What percentage of companies presenting non-GAAP measures?
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In the similar survey conducted by Deloitte in 2007, 45% of
companies presented non-GAAP performance measures.

This use of additional measures is permitted under IAS 1 which
encourages such items to be presented when this is relevant to an
understanding of the entity’s financial performance.

The most common performance measures excluded costs relating to
fundamental reorganisation or restructuring (20% of all non-GAAP
measures) and the disposal of fixed assets (13% of all non-GAAP
measures). Nearly three quarters of the companies with these
disposals disclosed that they related to large items, usually property
or land, but very few provided further explanation as to why these
items had been singled out. Also common were the effects of sales
or terminations of operations (other than discontinued operations)
and items relating to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.
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Within “Other” in figure 10 above, eight companies excluded
amortisation of intangibles (most commonly acquired intangibles
but in one case this included existing intangibles). Seven companies
excluded costs relating to legal action and tax-related items. 
The following costs were each excluded by six companies: costs or
provision releases relating to terminated contracts, credits or costs
relating to pensions and costs relating to business combinations
(such as integration costs).

Over half of the companies (54%) giving additional measures
referred to the excluded items as “exceptional”, a term not used in
IFRSs but obviously a hangover from UK reporting in which FRS 3
Reporting Financial Performance requires identification of such
items. Less common was “underlying”, a term used by only 14% of
those companies with such measures, whilst 6% of companies used
the term “non-recurring”.

The methods by which these additional performance measures were
shown on the face of the income statement varied. 35% of relevant
companies adopted a columnar approach so that the following were
presented: a complete income statement from revenue to profit
after tax which excluded the “exceptional items”; at least one
middle column with those items; and then a column showing the
full results including the “exceptional items”. 

Other approaches, adopted by 13 (25%) and 15 (29%) companies
respectively, were the use of an additional line and the inclusion of 
a removable box. With the former, the exceptional item was
excluded from the main body of expenses and often a sub-total
used (such as “operating profit before exceptional items”). In this
case, the non-GAAP measures are an integral part of the income
statement. This is demonstrated in the Annual Report for Chloride
Group Plc, below. 

Figure 10. What do the non-GAAP measures exclude?
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Figure 11. How are non-GAAP measures presented?
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Chloride Group Plc, “Annual Report”
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In comparison to this, a removable box is used to provide the reader
with extra information in addition to the results reported. 
A common use of the box is to split out operating profit into
underlying profits and the exceptional items. This is demonstrated 
in the Annual Report and Financial Statements 2008 of J Sainsbury
Plc, below.

Consistency of presentational style adopted in 2007

Five companies that were included within the sample in both the
2007 and 2008 surveys presented non-GAAP measures in either
columnar form or as additional line items in 2007 but presented 
no such measures in 2008.

Similarly, a further seven companies included within both surveys
changed from presenting non-GAAP measures as either additional
line items or removable boxes in 2007 to using a columnar approach
in 2008.

These changes year on year highlight the variability of presentation
amongst all companies and that there is significant flexibility
available to Directors to present their results in a way in which they
consider most appropriate to their circumstances.

J Sainsbury Plc, “Annual Report and Financial Statements 2008”

Two companies took an approach which was classified as “Other”.
In both cases an additional table was presented below the income
statement reconciling operating loss to a separate measure (referred
to in one as “EBITDA” and “trading profit” in the other). 
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Discontinued operations

The overall objective of the presentation and disclosure 
requirements within IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations is to enable users to evaluate the
financial effects of discontinued operations and disposals of 
non-current assets or disposal groups. To this end, the standard
distinguishes discontinued operations from other operations and
presents them separately.

The other company did not disclose any discontinued operations 
on the face of its income statement, although there was detail of
the revenue, costs and tax charges relating to a disposal group in
the current period in a separate note to the financial statements.
Perhaps this disposal group did not meet the IFRS 5 definition of 
a discontinued operation.

Presentation of other line items

An operating profit line is commonly given by UK companies,
although this is not a requirement under IAS 1. The standard does
not define “operating profit” and there is some variety in the level
at which the item is shown or whether it is omitted entirely. 
If shown, IAS 1 states that it would be misleading to exclude items
of an operating nature such as inventory write-downs, restructuring
and relocation expenses. It must be presented consistently year on
year and the group should have stated a policy making it clear what
this line item includes and excludes. 

94% of the sample included an operating profit line, with 24% of
these companies choosing to use an alternative name. Popular
names were profit from operations, profit before financing
income/costs and names specific to the company such as operating
profit before /after share-based payments.

IAS 1 also requires the share of the profit or loss of associates and
joint ventures accounted for using the equity method to be
presented separately as a single line item on the face of the income
statement. Of the 38 companies with associates and joint ventures,
35 (92%) complied with this requirement. Of the remaining three,
one did not disclose any income on the face of the income
statement (presumably due to the immaterial nature of the
investment in the joint venture) and one was exempt from the
requirement through choosing to account for the entities through
the proportional method. The third presented the pre-tax profits, tax
charge and the net figure within a removable box on the face of the
income statement.

5. Income statement – other items*

• 30% of companies have discontinued operations with all but
one presenting the results from the operations separately on
the face of the income statement.

• 25% of companies with additional non-GAAP performance
measures provide an adjusted earnings per share figure.

Figure 12. Have there been any discontinued operations in the current or 
prior years?

Yes No

30%

70%

30% of companies had discontinued operations in either the current
or the prior years. Of these, 93% presented the results from the
discontinued operations as a single amount on the face of the
income statement. This is in line with the minimum requirement
under IAS 1 which requires the post-tax profit or loss of
discontinued operations to be presented as a single amount.

Of the two companies that did not adopt this presentation, one
used a columnar approach, with one column representing continued
operations, one representing discontinued operations and the third
being the total. Curiously, the statement “the results above relate 
to continuing operations” was also included below the income
statement. 

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.
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Of the 35 companies who presented the share of the profit or loss
of associates and joint ventures as a single line, 42% presented this
in operating profit, 55% reported this below operating profit and
this question was not applicable for one bank as it did not have an
operating profit line on its income statement.

The position of other line items on the face of the income statement
also varied.

• 32% of companies presented costs of fundamental reorganisation
on the face of the income statement. Of these companies only
one presented this below the operating profit line. This presentation
is inconsistent with IAS 1.BC13 which considers exclusion of
such items from operating activities to be misleading, although
this was usual practice under UK GAAP.

• 66% of companies clearly disclosed the profit or loss on the
disposal of fixed assets (whether on the face of the income
statement or in the notes). All companies presented the results
above operating profit.

• Four companies disclosed the disposal of investments on the
face of the income statement. All companies presented this
above the operating profit line.

There was a variety of presentations of defined benefit pension
scheme costs in the income statement. IAS 19 Employee Benefits
discusses the various costs that may need to be recognised in the
income statement (such as current service cost, interest cost,
expected return on plan assets, actuarial gains and losses to the
extent recognised and the effect of curtailments or settlements).
However, neither IAS 19 nor IAS 1 clearly directs how the
charge/credit to the income statement should be presented.

Figure 13. Of the companies presenting results of associates/joint ventures,
are they presented in or below operating profit on the face of the income
statement?

Above Below Not applicable
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Figure 14. Are the following presented in or below operating profit on the 
face of the income statement?
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Figure 15. Where are defined benefit pension scheme costs included in the 
income statement?
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61% of the companies surveyed operated defined benefit pension
schemes. 31% of these companies allocated pension costs solely to
staff costs; 33% attributed costs to staff costs and finance costs.
20% of companies specifically disclosed the costs as staff costs,
finance costs and expected return. The remaining 16% of
companies presented pension costs in other combinations,
including:

• expected return on plan assets less finance charge (i.e. no
service cost in the current year); and

• staff costs, finance costs and an exceptional pension credit.

Earnings per share (EPS)

A compulsory performance measure to be shown by all listed
companies is EPS. The objective of the basic EPS information is to
provide a measure of the interests of each ordinary share of a parent
entity in the performance of the entity over the reporting period. 

22% of the companies surveyed presented additional performance
measures, other than EPS for discontinued operations, on the face
of the income statement. 13 of these companies (59%) presented
both adjusted basic and diluted EPS to take into account the
additional performance measures. Two companies (9%) produced
only an adjusted basic EPS and did not adjust the diluted EPS. 
These additional performance measures were often an adjusted
profit figure, such as profit before exceptional items.

Of the remaining seven companies (32%) which presented
additional performance measures but did not present an adjusted
diluted or basic EPS, six companies presented dividend per share as 
a measure and one company presented weighted average shares
outstanding as a performance measure. Disclosure of the amount of
dividends and the amount per share must be disclosed either on the
face of the income statement or the statement of changes in equity
(SOCIE), or in the notes.

Some companies chose to present further performance measures in
the notes, such as Wm Morrison Supermarkets PLC which presented
EPS based on underlying earnings in note 1 to the financial
statements (including adjusted diluted EPS).

Of the 30 companies with discontinued operations in the year, 
19 presented EPS for total operations and EPS for continuing
operations (the difference being the result for discontinued
operations) and nine showed both EPS for continuing operations
and discontinued operations, often along with a total. 
The remaining two companies presented EPS for total operations
only on the face of the income statement. 

Income statement for parent companies

The exemption under the Companies Act 1985 which allows
companies not to publish a separate income statement for the
parent financial statements was popular, with 90% of companies
taking advantage of the exemption. Of the remaining ten, six
produced a separate statement for the parent company, for two 
the exemption was not applicable as there was no separate parent
company and the last two companies were subject to Guernsey law
rather than UK law.
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IAS 1 requires that the financial statements should include a primary
statement showing either all changes in equity, or changes in equity
other than those arising from capital transactions with owners and
distributions to owners (i.e. transactions with equity holders acting
in their capacity as equity holders).

The second approach, usually titled Statement Of Recognised
Income and Expense (SORIE), has proven more popular with
companies. Further detail of other changes in equity is then
disclosed within the notes to the financial statements.

Presentation

In contrast, of the smallest 350 companies only 48% of them
presented a SORIE. 40% produced a SOCIE, whilst two companies
(6%) produced both as primary statements. Including both the
SORIE and SOCIE as primary statements has the potential to be
confusing for readers as the SORIE is itself a statement of changes 
in equity. The remaining two companies did not produce either 
a SOCIE or a SORIE as a primary statement, explaining on the face
of the income statement that there was no other income or expense
incurred during the period. A reconciliation of equity was provided
in the notes to the financial statements in both cases.

Individual line items

Cash flow hedges
43 companies indicated in their accounting policies that they enter
hedging contracts to hedge against cash flow risk. 33 of these
companies (77%) included movements in cash flow hedges within
the SORIE or SOCIE. Of the remaining ten companies, most of them
implied that they had not entered into such contracts in either the
current or prior periods. The others did not clearly state why
movements in hedges had not been recognised in equity.

Dividends
IAS 1 requires entities to disclose, either on the face of the income
statement or the SOCIE, or in the notes, the amount of dividends
recognised as distributions to equity holders during the period.

79% of companies paid out dividends on ordinary shares in the
current period. 20% of these companies presented a SOCIE as a
primary statement and 3% presented both a SOCIE and SORIE; all 
of these companies included dividends within the SOCIE rather than
the SORIE.

Of the remaining 77% of companies who paid out a dividend in the
year, all but one produced a SORIE as a primary statement. None of
these companies included dividends within the SORIE, instead
accurately presenting the movement within the notes to the
financial statements where the movement in equity was disclosed. 
The one remaining company which produced neither a SOCIE nor 
a SORIE as a primary statement also included dividends within the
notes to the financial statements.

6. Reporting changes in equity*

• 73% of companies produce a SORIE as a primary statement.

Figure 16. Has a SOCIE or SORIE been presented as a primary statement?
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A clear majority of companies chose to present a SORIE instead of 
a SOCIE as a primary statement. Nearly all of the companies within
the top FTSE 350 produced a SORIE, with only two financial
institutions choosing to present a SOCIE. Similarly, 70% of the
middle-tier companies presented a SORIE.

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.
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Share-based payment charge
IFRS 2 Share-based payments requires an entity to disclose
information that enables users of the financial statements to
understand the effect of share-based payment transactions on 
its profit or loss for the period and on its financial position.
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Minority interest
IAS 1 also requires disclosure, on the face of the SOCIE, of total
income and expenses for the period (including amounts recognised
directly in equity), showing separately the amounts attributable to
equity holders of the parent and to minority interests.

A third of companies (34%) had minority interests. Seven of these
companies (21%) presented a SOCIE as a primary statement and
included the movement in minority interests within the SOCIE. 
Of the remaining 27 companies which had minority interests but
presented a SORIE as a primary statement, 15 of these companies
(56%) included the movement in minority interests within the SOCIE
note or the equivalent reserves note. The remaining twelve adopted
the following presentation:

• six reconciled the minority interest in a separate note;

• four had clearly immaterial movements and therefore did not
include a reconciliation; and 

• two companies did not clearly state what the movement in
minority interest related to (other than the relative profit or loss
for the period).

In summary, the findings above confirm a high level of compliance
with IAS 1 and other appropriate standards with regards to
reporting changes in equity.

89% of companies had share-based payment or share option
schemes. Of these, 92% recognised a movement for the period
within either the SOCIE as a primary statement (18%) or within the
notes to the accounts where the movement in equity is disclosed
(74%). In nearly all cases this movement could be clearly identified
as the corresponding credit to equity for the IFRS 2 charge incurred
for the period. Where other movements were identified, these were
due to the exercise, lapsing or vesting of share options. 

More often than not these movements could be reconciled to the
disclosure of the charge to income statement within the share-based
payment note to the accounts. In five particular instances it was not
easy to reconcile the movement shown in the SOCIE or equivalent
note to any detail provided in the share-based payment note.

The remaining 8% of companies with share-based payment or share
option schemes did not recognise any movement within the SOCIE
or equivalent note. 5% only had schemes which had granted
options or awards prior to 7 November 2002 which are exempt
from IFRS 2. 1% did not recognise any expense because it was not
anticipated that the relevant performance conditions would be met,
and the remaining 2% of relevant companies did not provide a clear
reason as to why no movement in equity was recognised in the year. 

Figure 17. Where has the IFRS 2 movement within equity been shown?
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IAS 7 Statement of cash flows requires that a cash flow statement
must be presented reporting inflows and outflows of cash and cash
equivalents during the period. Those cash flows must be analysed
across three main headings (operating, investing and financing
activities), compared to UK GAAP which requires up to nine main
headings.

All companies within the sample complied with the requirement to
present a cash flow statement as a primary statement. Despite
detailed guidance provided in IAS 7, presentation of cash flow items
varied considerably across the companies sampled.

Two methods of presenting cash flows from operating activities are
allowable under IAS 7, namely the direct method and the indirect
method. 97% of companies chose to present cash flows using the
indirect method. Only 2% adopted the direct method, indicating
that the former is easier to calculate accurately and efficiently. 
One company failed to disclose any calculation, reconciliation or
explanation as to how the “cash flows generated from operations”
figure shown on the face of the cash flow statement had been
determined. 

Interest

7. Cash flow statement*

• Both interest paid and interest received are classified as
operating, investing and financing activities across the
sample.

• All companies with dividends payable comply with reporting
standards and classify them as either operating or financing
cash flows.

• Only 7 out of 30 companies with discontinued operations
present cash flows from discontinued operations on the face
of the cash flow statement.

Figure 18. How are cash flows from interest received classified?
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Interest received and paid are usually classified under operating
activities in financial institutions. For other companies, IAS 7 notes
that interest received may be classified as operating or investing
cash flows.

93% of companies recognised a cash flow from interest received.
Most companies (51%) classified cash flows from interest received
as investing, with 42% classifying them as operating. One company
chose to split interest received into both categories. The remaining
six companies considered interest receivable to relate to financing
activities. These were predominantly in the chemicals or real estate
industries.

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.
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In accordance with IAS 1, interest paid should be classified as either
an operating or a financing cash flow. Figure 19 below shows which
option companies chose.

As demonstrated in the findings below, companies have adopted 
a variety of presentations to comply with the multiple requirements.

Figure 19. How are cash flows from interest paid classified?
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96% of companies recognised a cash flow for interest paid. 
Two thirds of relevant companies presented interest payable as
relating to operations, with nearly all other companies classifying 
it as financing. Only two companies classified some or all of their
interest payable as investing. Whilst one of these companies had
classified all of their interest payable as investing, the other had
classified bank loan and overdraft interest as financing and an
additional amount that had been capitalised during the period 
as investing. 

Dividends

Only 32% of companies received dividends during the period. 
Of these, 69% classified the cash inflows as investing, 25%
classified them as operating whilst the remaining 6% classified 
them as financing. 

IAS 7 is prescriptive in classifying dividends payable as either
operating or financing. 79 companies within the sample paid
dividends on ordinary shares in the current year. All of these
companies had followed the guidance in IAS 7, with 97% classifying
them as financing and the remaining 3% classifying them as
operating. One company paid out dividends on preference shares
and also classified this cash flow as operating.

Discontinued operations

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations requires the net cash flows attributable to the activities
of discontinued operations (operating, investing and financing) to
be presented either in the notes or on the face of the financial
statements. Where an entity chooses to present these disclosures 
on the face of the cash flow statement, care must be taken to
ensure that the requirements of IAS 7 are met. In particular, where
an entity reports cash flows from operating activities using the
indirect method in accordance with IAS 7.18(b) profit or loss is
adjusted for a number of items. Profit or loss in this context includes
both continuing and discontinued operations. If the direct method 
is used, the gross cash flows are from both continuing and
discontinued operations. 

Figure 20. Are net cash flows attributable to discontinued operations 
presented on the face of the cash flow statement?
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30% of the sample had discontinued operations during either the
current or prior periods. Of these companies, only seven presented
cash flows attributable to discontinued operations on the face of
the cash flow statement. 

Two companies presented a separate line for discontinued operations
within each of the three sections (operating, investing and financing).
Both then provided full cash flow statements for the discontinued
operations within the notes to the financial statements to support
the individual lines shown on the face.

Two other companies presented a full cash flow for continuing
operations only. Below the financing section three lines were
presented relating to operating, investing and financing cashflows
for discontinued operations. Interestingly, neither of these
companies provided any further detail to these net cash flows for
discontinued operations within the notes to the financial
statements.

The remaining three companies presented one line within operating
cash flows as part of the total “cash generated from operations”. 
In two cases no further breakdown or reconciliation was provided 
in the notes. In the third case a reconciliation was provided in the
notes, reconciling profit from discontinued operations shown on 
the face of the income statement to the cash outflow.

Some companies fulfilled the IFRS 5 requirements for disclosing cash
flows from discontinued operations within the notes to the financial
statements, but did not necessarily reference these directly to the
cash flow statement. Other companies divided profit from operations
between continuing & discontinuing operations in the “reconciliation
of operating profit to net cash flow” note.
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Balance sheet presentation

The minimum requirements in IAS 1 allow companies some freedom
in presentation of the balance sheet. Despite this, the variety in
presentation of balance sheets was less than that of the income
statement, discussed in section 4. 92% of companies complied with
the minimum line requirements as per IAS 1. Non-compliance was
due to:

• not presenting all the relevant tax balances separately. In most
cases of non-compliance, the current tax creditor was included
within payables;

• the provisions not being separately disclosed on the face.
Instead this was included within the trade payables balance and
split out separately within the notes to the financial statements;
and

• not including assets held for sale separately on the balance
sheet. These were included within “other assets” and disclosed
within the notes. 

The average length of the balance sheet was 31 lines. The maximum
was Prudential plc with 53 lines presented and the most brief was
Goshawk Insurance Holdings plc with 17 lines. The average length
was directly in line with the size of the companies, as shown in
figure 22 below. This presumably demonstrates the increase in
complexity of the position of each company as its size increases.

8. Balance sheet, tax and reserves*

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.

• 92% of companies comply with minimum disclosure
requirements on the face of the balance sheet.

• The length of balance sheets varies from 23 to 53 lines.

• Only 13% disclose a description of the nature and purpose
of each equity reserve.

Figure 21. How many lines are on the face of the group balance sheet?
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Figure 22. How many lines are on the face of balance sheet by size 
of company?
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IAS 1 allows entities to present their balance sheet in order of
ageing of items (i.e. current/non-current) or in order of liquidity.
87% of companies presented their year-end position in order of
ageing of items. Only 10% presented their balance sheets in order
of liquidity. The remaining 3% were two banks and one insurance
company which appeared to combine elements of both ageing and
liquidity. 

Presentation of assets held for sale

IFRS 5 requires the following line items to be presented separately
on the face of the balance sheet:

• total assets classified as held for sale and assets included in
disposal groups classified as held for sale; and

• liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale.

23% of companies presented assets held for sale on the face of the
balance sheet. Over half (57%) of these companies separated out
the assets and associated liabilities into two lines, as required by
both IAS 1 and IFRS 5. The other 43% of companies which showed
assets held for sale did not have any liabilities to disclose because
the assets were tangible fixed assets rather than disposal groups.

27387 rt Right to the end:27387 Right to the endrt  18/11/08  11:50  Page 17



Reserves

The number of reserves other than share capital varied hugely, 
as demonstrated by figure 23, below.

The average across all companies was five. Two companies in the
top 350 companies by market capitalisation had nine reserves, while
one company in the middle tier had ten reserves. In general, the
larger the company the more reserves it had, with the average
number of reserves in the top, middle and bottom tiers being six,
five and four respectively.

IAS 1 requires a description of the nature and purpose of each
reserve within equity. Only 13% of companies fulfilled this
requirement for every reserve. A large number of companies
complied with the requirement for reserves whose function was 
not necessarily explicit in their name (such as “other reserve”).
Interestingly, many companies described all reserves other than
retained earnings, indicating that a description of that reserve would
be superfluous to the readers’ needs.

7% of companies had share capital or a component of it included
within liabilities. In most cases this represented preference shares.
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Taxation

91% of companies were compliant with IAS 1 in disclosing tax
separately on the face of the balance sheet. For half of the remaining
companies, this requirement did not apply as they did not have 
any tax payable or deferred tax recognised at the year-end. 
The remaining companies appeared not to meet this disclosure
requirement.

All but two companies produced tax reconciliations, a requirement
under IAS 12 Income Taxes. One of the two companies disclosed
that no liability to corporation tax arose during either the current or
prior periods. The other company was domiciled in Guernsey where
it had been deemed exempt from Guernsey taxation.

A handful of companies chose not to disclose their tax reconciliation
using absolute numbers, instead preferring to present a reconciliation
of effective rates in percentage terms which is also acceptable under
IAS 12. 

Nearly a third of companies clearly disclosed the amount of
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits for which no deferred tax had been recognised on the
balance sheet. In comparison to this, 25% of companies clearly
disclosed temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests in joint ventures
for which deferred tax liabilities had not been recognised. Both of
these disclosures are required under IAS 12. It is difficult to tell
whether all companies in our sample complied with these
requirements as some companies may not have had any such
temporary differences or had in fact recognised deferred tax
liabilities on these differences.

Only two companies made clear reference to ‘interesting’ tax
schemes or tax returns that had not been settled for a number 
of years.

Figure 23. How many reserves (other than share capital) have been 
disclosed?

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 >8

Percentage

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Number of reserves

27387 rt Right to the end:27387 Right to the endrt  18/11/08  11:50  Page 18



19

Right to the end
Surveying financial statements in annual reports

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates requires
disclosure of the amount of exchange differences included in the
net profit or loss for the period (excluding those arising on financial
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss). Similarly,
IAS 21 requires that the net exchange differences classified as a
separate component of equity be disclosed, with a reconciliation of
such exchange differences at the start and end of the period.

38% of companies disclosed both the amount of foreign exchange
gains and losses charged or credited to the income statement and
the net exchange differences classified in a separate component of
equity.

24% of companies disclosed no foreign exchange gains or losses at
all, implying that their cash inflows and outflows were generated
within the same exchange currency.

Foreign exchange

Figure 24. Where have the foreign exchange gains or losses (FX) been 
disclosed?
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Leases

Only 3% of companies did not have any evidence of leasing
transactions in their financial statements. Two of these companies
had financial-based activities whilst the third was a software
company. The forthcoming discussion paper on lessee accounting
from the IASB is therefore likely to be of widespread interest to UK
companies.

27387 rt Right to the end:27387 Right to the endrt  18/11/08  11:50  Page 19



20

Right to the end
Surveying financial statements in annual reports

A summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes are a required component of a complete set of IFRS financial
statements. The financial statements must include an explicit and
unreserved statement in the notes that they comply with IFRSs.

The Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP) has looked closely at
accounting policies over the recent years. In its recent publication,
“Review Findings and Recommendations – 2008”, the FRRP
confirmed that it asked fewer questions in this area in 2008
compared to earlier years and that “inappropriate retention of UK
GAAP descriptive material had diminished”. The FRRP also noted
that it encouraged deletion of redundant information being
included within the summaries of accounting policies. But what is
clear from this survey is that a significant proportion of financial
statements was taken up by accounting policies. 

The length of accounting policies notes ranged from 1.5 to 
16.5 pages with an average of 5 pages. As shown in figure 
25, the length of the note as a percentage of the financial
statements ranged across the sample from 5% to 21% with an
average of 12%. 

Interestingly, the average length of accounting policies as a proportion
of financial statements decreases as the size of company increases.
This suggests that the ever-increasing disclosure requirements impacts
the smaller companies more than the larger ones. 

The results above do become skewed, however, when taking into
account the fact that some companies choose to disclose information
which is not strictly an accounting policy (such as critical judgements,
key sources of estimation uncertainty, reporting standards in issue
but not yet effective, basis of preparation and so on) in a separate
note. For example 44% of companies disclosed critical judgements
within the accounting policies section, as discussed below.

9. Accounting policies*

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.

• Accounting policies are on average 5 pages long and make
up 12% of the financial statements.

• 93% of companies disclose standards and interpretations 
in issue but not yet effective, with 90% of these clearly
stating their impact.

• 75% of companies clearly disclose critical judgements, with
the average number of judgements being 4.

• 82% of companies disclose key sources of estimation
uncertainty.

• 52% of revenue recognition policies are between 100 and
250 words long.

MiddleTop 350
companies by market

capitalisation

Smallest 350
companies by market

capitalisation

Figure 25. How long is the accounting policy note as a proportion of 
financial statements?
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Reporting standards

Despite only one company reporting under IFRSs for the first time,
25% of companies continued to make reference to choices they
made under IFRSs on transition. The most common references were
to goodwill and foreign exchange reserves.

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors requires disclosure of a listing of standards and interpretations
in issue but not yet effective, coupled with the anticipated impact
on the financial statements of each of these. 93% of companies
complied with the requirement to provide a listing, but only 90% of
these companies clearly stated the impact (including where the
directors considered there to be no impact). 

Some companies chose to adopt early the following standards:

• IFRIC 11 IFRS 2—Group and Treasury Share Transactions which
was adopted by 17 companies. The effective date of the
interpretation meant that for twelve of these companies this
was compulsory. The remaining five companies chose to adopt
early;

• IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction was
adopted early by five companies with financial year-ends
between December 2007 and April 2008. Technically, IFRIC 
14 has not been endorsed for use in the EU. Presumably
companies believed its requirements were consistent with
existing IFRSs; and

• IFRS 8 Operating Segments was adopted early by three
companies. One of these companies concluded that the
segments previously disclosed were still appropriate under the
new standard and therefore no change to prior years was
necessary. The second company had to change its business
segments to comply with the new requirements, whilst the 
third company changed its organisation structure and therefore
early adoption of the new standard was convenient.

No company chose to adopt early IFRIC 12 Service Concession
Arrangements. IFRIC 12 has not yet been endorsed by the EU and
this is unlikely to happen by the end of 2008. In Europe the
interpretation will be effective for periods beginning after the date
of endorsement.

Critical judgements 

IAS 1 requires disclosure of the critical judgements made by
management in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies. These are described as those judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements. 75% of companies clearly complied with this requirement.

Figure 26. Where have the critical judgements been disclosed?
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59% of all compliant companies disclosed the critical judgements
within the accounting policies section, with 38% disclosing them
separately in a note to the financial statements. The remaining 
3% disclosed them primarily in the narrative report, with a clear
cross-reference to the financial statements as appropriate. 
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Figure 27. What do the critical judgements cover?
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The number of judgements varied from one to ten, with an average
of four across the compliant companies. As shown in figure 
27 above, the most common judgements were around goodwill
(including both valuation and impairment), pensions (commonly the
actuarial assumptions and the liability for defined benefit schemes),
tax-related items, provisions (including stock provisions) and PPE
(including determining useful economic lives and impairment).

The results indicate that many companies face the same issues 
when making judgements that affect the financial statements.
Consideration of impairment, whether it be in relation to goodwill,
intangible assets or other assets held on the balance sheet, was
clearly an issue for the majority of companies.

On the other hand, these results also indicate that management are
not necessarily considering the judgements that uniquely affect their
company, but instead stating generic judgements to satisfy another
disclosure requirement. This is in line with the FRRP’s findings in its
publication noted above, which also stated its concern that too
often the disclosures tend to be boiler-plate without referring to
specific issues faced by individual companies.

The “Other” category shown in figure 27 comprised a variety of
judgements, most commonly associated with presentation or
classification (such as exceptional items). 

Rio Tinto plc, “2007 Full financial statements”
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One company stood out of the sample with five critical judgements
that were unique to itself within the sample. This was Rio Tinto plc,
which determined the following items to be critical judgements:

• merger accounting in 1995; 

• determination of ore reserve estimates; 

• deferral of stripping costs; 

• capitalisation of exploration & evaluation costs; and

• identification of functional currencies.

It also disclosed three other critical judgements which were common
to other companies.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Along with critical judgements, IAS 1 requires disclosure of key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

A total of 82 companies disclosed key sources of estimation
uncertainty, with only 30 (38% of relevant companies) using the
terminology “key sources of estimation uncertainty”. In line with the
critical judgements, the number of estimates varied from one to ten,
with an average of four. 

Of the compliant companies, 58 (71%) presented them in
combination with critical judgements while only 13 (16%) split them
out as separate considerations. The remaining 11 companies (13%)
disclosing key sources of estimation uncertainty did not disclose 
any critical judgements. 55 companies provided key sources of
estimation uncertainty which were the same as the critical
judgements identified. This highlights the confusion around the
distinction between critical judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty.

Four companies chose to disclose only critical judgements, whereas
ten companies chose to disclose only key sources of estimation
uncertainty. Disappointingly none of these companies disclosed
either judgements or key estimations that were particularly specific
or unique, instead choosing to plump for the standard judgements
as discussed above.

As stated by the FRRP, “directors will need to pay particular
attention to disclosure of key assumptions and key sources of
estimation uncertainties during the forthcoming reporting season
given recent developments and continuing difficulties within the
financial markets”.

Prior year restatements

35 companies had restatements of prior year balances. A total of 
45 restatements were made across these relevant companies. 
As shown in figure 29, the most common reason to restate was due
to reclassifying balances either on the income statement or on the
balance sheet (27% of all restatements). 20% of restatements were
due to reclassifying results from discontinued operations. 20% of
restatements were due to a specific change in accounting policy. 

Two companies restated the comparatives to reflect a change in
accounting estimate, although such a retrospective change is not
permitted under IFRSs. It was not clear from the disclosures of these
restatements whether the change in accounting estimate was due
to a material error being identified.

Figure 28. What percentage of companies disclose critical judgements and 
key sources of estimation uncertainty?
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One company changed its presentation due to a change of its
accounting system which allowed different analysis to be extracted. 

Ten companies disclosed a change in accounting treatment, but not
in policy, thus not requiring comparative information to be restated.

Revenue recognition

Revenue recognition has continued to be a ‘hot topic’ covered 
by the FRRP. Questions tend to be focussed on “the sufficiency 
of the stated policy to enable users to understand the bases on
which management recognised its significant sources of revenue”.
The detail given about revenue recognition varied across the sample.

The majority of companies (52%) had revenue recognition policies
of 100 to 250 words. There were nine companies with policies less
than 50 words long. These were from across the sample (including
three of the top 350 companies and two of the middle group) and
from a variety of industries. In comparison, of the 15 companies
with policies longer than 250 words, ten of these came from the
FTSE 100 and included all of the banks within the sample.

Three companies showed evidence that the revenue recognition
policy had been changed or expanded from the prior year. This was
due to separate disclosure for operations classified as discontinued
in the current period or a reclassification of cash inflows from other
income to revenue.

The shortest revenue recognition policy was only 13 words, being
“Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable”. This company did have another section called “sale
of goods” which was seventy words long.

Figure 29. What do the prior year restatements relate to?
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Figure 30. How long is the revenue recognition policy?
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Fair values

The other half accounted for the assets at cost (commonly the fair
value at date of transition to IFRSs) less accumulated depreciation. 
In one instance the accounting policy implied that the assets were
held for the purpose of rental income, rather than trading the
properties as part of the company’s operations. In this case it is not
unreasonable for the properties to be treated in the same way as for
the other non-current tangible assets. The remaining five companies
choosing not to apply fair value to their investment properties were
silent on the rationale supporting their choice. Five of these six
companies complied with the IAS 40 requirement to disclose the fair
value of the property at the balance sheet date.

Figure 31. Has the company applied fair value accounting?
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All companies with derivatives or which applied hedge accounting
valued these instruments at fair value, in line with IAS 39. For only
one company the accounting policy note was not considered to be
sufficiently explicit to determine whether fair value accounting had
been applied to its net investment hedges.

Out of the 96 companies with property, plant & equipment on their
balance sheet two measured these assets at fair value. This was
applied only to the buildings included within PPE.

Under IAS 40 Investment Property entities may choose whether 
to apply the fair value model or the cost model. Twelve companies
in the sample held investment property on their balance sheet, of
which half of them chose to apply the fair value model to these
assets. 
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Impact of IFRS 8 Adoption

As noted in section 7, three companies had chosen to adopt early
IFRS 8 Reporting Segments. IFRS 8 is effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. 

The new standard requires segmental analysis on a basis that more
closely reflects what management use for internal reporting
purposes. This may encourage the inclusion of more non-GAAP
measures. For the three early adopters, the change to the new
standard made minimal difference to the length of the disclosures
previously provided under IAS 14 Segment Reporting. 

Under IFRS 8, when an entity has only one reportable segment it
needs to provide information about each product and service or
groups of products and services. This will impact those companies
which did not provide segmental analysis for their primary reporting
format on the basis that they only had one class of business.

Analyses of revenues and certain non-current assets by geographical
area are also required under IFRS 8, with an expanded requirement
to disclose revenues/assets by individual foreign country (if material),
irrespective of the identification of operating segments. Disclosure
of transactions with major customers is also required.

IAS 14 reporters

There was a variety of approaches to, and interpretations of, IAS 
14 among companies. A company is required to determine whether 
its primary segment reporting format is business segments or
geographical segments, based on the dominant source and nature
of the company’s risks and returns. As illustrated in figure 32, 
10% of companies did not identify a primary reporting format, 
74% of companies identified business segments as their primary
reporting format and 16% used geographical segments.

10. Segmental analysis*

• 74% of companies identify business segments as their 
primary reporting format.

• 10% of companies do not identify any primary reporting 
format.

• Only 5% of companies do not provide a reconciliation 
between segmental figures and their primary statements.

• Three companies adopt IFRS 8 early, which has little impact 
on the length of segmental reporting disclosures.

Figure 32. What is the primary segmental reporting format?

No primary reporting format

Geographical segments

Business segments

74%

16%
10%

Of those companies that identified a primary reporting format, 
two stated that whilst their primary reporting format was business
segments, they had only one class of business and thus provided 
no analysis or disclosure for segmental reporting purposes. 
Another four companies had identified only one business segment
as their primary reporting format, and did meet the disclosure
requirements for their secondary reporting format, being
geographical segments.

Three companies determined that although more than one segment
could be identified that generated revenue, all assets and liabilities
of the group related to one overall segment and therefore no
analysis was provided for other income statement items or balance
sheet items.

As illustrated in figure 33, the number of segments identified under
the primary reporting format (excluding unallocated or general
corporate segments), ranged from one to ten, with an average of
three segments across the sample. Of those companies that
identified a primary reporting format, 93% identified two or more
segments to report. 

One company did not produce any segmental analysis, on the basis
that its operations were in one geographical location and in one
class of business. Unexpectedly, in the segmental reporting note an
analysis of revenue and cost of sales was provided by market sectors
in which the company operated, suggesting that different segments
could be identified. Within this additional analysis non-GAAP
measures were presented.

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.
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55% of companies providing a segmental analysis produced more
information than was required, by including non-GAAP measures
for each segment. Such measures typically included operating profit
before exceptional items, EBITA or EBITDA.

IAS 14 requires a reconciliation between the information disclosed
for reportable segments and the aggregated information in the
consolidated or individual financial statements. Most companies
with a segmental analysis provided this reconciliation. Only 5% 
did not. 

IAS 14 states income tax expense is not included in segment
expense, income tax assets are not included in segment assets and
income tax liabilities are not included in segment liabilities. As shown
by figure 34 above, of those companies preparing reconciliations to
the group’s overall balance sheet, 46% of companies made it clear
that they had allocated tax expense, assets and liabilities to
segments. It was unclear for 35% of companies whether or not
these balances had been excluded from the segments. 19% of
companies had not included tax balances in segment expense, assets 
or liabilities.

Figure 33. How many segments are identified under the primary reporting
format?
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Figure 34. Have income tax assets and liabilities been included in segment 
asset and liabilities?
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IFRS 3 Business Combinations includes a general objective to
disclose information that enables users of the financial statements
to evaluate changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the
period. Further information about the recoverable amount and
impairment of goodwill must also be disclosed in accordance with
IAS 36.

The FRRP released a Press Notice in October 2008 detailing its
review of goodwill impairment disclosures made in the financial
statements of 32 listed companies in 2007. Its conclusions included
the observation that most companies disclosed more generic than
specific information in this area, thus limiting the understanding and
insight that could have been conveyed to the users. 

The results from the survey indicated that a significant proportion of
companies were not meeting the basic requirements of disclosure
under IAS 36 Impairment of assets, as discussed below.

Goodwill – allocation 

81% of the companies surveyed had goodwill on their balance
sheets. Of these, only 54 companies (67%) disclosed all of the cash
generating units (“CGUs”) to which the goodwill had been
allocated. Two companies disclosed several CGUs but this did not
account for all of the goodwill balance. One company disclosed two
CGUs, one of which was named “other”, while a further company
provided information on the number of CGUs to which goodwill
had been allocated but did not disclose what the CGUs actually
were. The remaining 24 companies did not disclose any detail
regarding the CGUs.

The variety in number of disclosed CGUs is shown in figure 35. 
The maximum was eleven and the average, excluding those with
none, was three.

In addition to disclosure about the allocation of goodwill, 
15 companies also provided information on the total number 
of CGUs. 

Of the 81 companies recognising goodwill on their consolidated
balance sheet, 48 (59%) disclosed the allocation of goodwill among
segments, five (6%) did not present any segmental analysis (see
discussion of segmental analysis in section 10) and the remaining 
28 (35%) did not disclose any allocation of goodwill to segments.

The number of segments to which goodwill had been allocated
varied. The maximum number was six and the average was two.

11. Goodwill and intangibles*

• Only 68% of companies with goodwill disclose an allocation 
by cash generating unit.

• 90% of companies with goodwill calculate its recoverable 
amount as its value in use.

• 47% of companies with goodwill do not disclose the growth 
rate used for future cash flows when assessing value in use.

• 79% of companies have intangibles other than goodwill.

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.

Figure 35. How many CGUs has goodwill been allocated to?
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Goodwill – impairment review

Disclosure of the basis used to measure recoverable amounts of
cash-generating units containing goodwill is a requirement of IAS
36. The recoverable amount for an asset or a CGU is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Entities are
required to disclose which calculation has determined the
recoverable amount.

The most common basis on which the CGU’s recoverable amount
had been determined was value in use, with 90% of all companies
with goodwill following this approach (see figure 37). Five companies
referred to both value in use and fair value less costs to sell
calculations, but no companies used the latter on its own. 
Three companies failed to disclose clearly the basis on which the
CGUs’ recoverable amount had been determined.

Figure 36. How many segments has goodwill been allocated to?
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Figure 37. How has the unit’s recoverable amount been calculated?

Value in use Both fair value and value in use No evidence

6%
4%

90%

Figure 38. Have the key assumptions on which management bases its
cash flow projections been described?

Yes No

19%

81%

Only 81% of companies with goodwill described the key assumptions
on which management based its cashflow projections. Fewer still
disclosed the period over which the cash flows were projected. 
35 companies (43% of those with goodwill) indicated that this period
was not greater than five years. Of the remaining 46 companies,
twelve (15%) confirmed that the period was greater than five years
and provided an explanation for that. 17 (21%) confirmed that the
period was greater than five years but provided no explanation and
there was no evidence in the remaining 17 companies (21%) of the
length of period over which the cash flows were projected.
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The FRRP has clearly identified in its October 2008 press notice 
that disclosure surrounding impairment of goodwill is of great
importance, even more so in the current economic environment. 

The goodwill note to the group financial statements from the
Annual Report and Accounts 2007 of LSL Property Services plc
serves as a good example of providing clear detail of management’s
judgement on goodwill impairment.

30

Right to the end
Surveying financial statements in annual reports

Figure 40. Is the growth rate disclosed?

Yes No

53%47%

Only 53% of companies with goodwill disclosed the growth rate
used for any part of their value in use calculations. 32% of these
companies indicated that the growth rate did not exceed the
relevant long term average growth rate. 4% of these companies
indicated that the growth rate exceeded the relevant long term
average growth rate but failed to justify this. There was no evidence
at all in the remaining 64% of relevant companies as to whether or
not the growth rate exceeded the relevant long term average
growth rate.

LSL Property Services plc, “Annual Report and Accounts 2007”

Figure 39. Is the period over which the cash flows are projected more than 
five years?

Yes No Unclear

43%

36%

21%

IAS 36 contains further sensitivity disclosure requirements that apply
where a reasonably possible change of key assumptions would
cause the unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
Of the 81 companies with goodwill, twelve (15%) included such
additional sensitivity disclosures. 
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Intangibles

79% of all companies recognised intangible assets other than
goodwill on their balance sheet. The number of classes of
intangibles ranged from one to seven, with an average of three
across these companies.
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Figure 41. How many classes of intangibles have been disclosed?

1 2 3 4 5 6 or
more

% of companies with intangible assets 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Number of classes of intangibles 

For each class of intangible asset, IAS 38 Intangible Assets requires
disclosure of whether the useful lives are indefinite or finite, the
amortisation rates used where the useful lives are finite and the
reasons supporting the assessment of the indefinite life of any asset. 

Of the companies with intangibles other than goodwill, eight
companies (10%) had assessed some or all of the intangibles as
having an indefinite life. Six out of these eight companies went on to
disclose the reasons supporting the assessment of the indefinite life.

The FRRP’s comments on the importance of clear disclosure relating
to goodwill impairment can be considered equally relevant to
impairment of other intangibles. While the FRRP expects to see an
increase in impairment of goodwill, it is not unreasonable to expect
also more discussion around the recoverable amounts and useful
lives of intangible assets and possibly changes in accounting
estimates in this area.

Research and development

38% of all companies disclosed the aggregate amount of research
and development (“R&D”) charged as an expense in the year. 
Of the remaining companies with no such disclosure, 7% had an
accounting policy for R&D, suggesting perhaps that there may have
been R&D expenditure during the year, whilst 55% were silent on
the matter.
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IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures became effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007 and thus
the 2007/8 reporting season was the first time this new standard
was operable. 80% of the companies sampled were caught by this
standard, although early adoption was also permitted. This, together
with extended related disclosures in IAS 1, introduced significant
additional disclosures compared to the previous regime.

One of the trickier elements of these IFRS 7 financial instruments
disclosures is that it is not mandated that they all appear in one
place in the annual report. This comment is particularly applicable
for disclosure of the nature and extent of risks arising from financial
instruments. Disclosure of risks is discussed in the legal requirements
for an enhanced business review (EBR) and in the Reporting
Statement ‘Operating and financial review’ (RS). Thus companies
may choose to give such disclosures in the front half of their annual
reports and to include a cross-reference in the notes to the financial
statements to the earlier discussion. Only 5% of companies sampled
chose this approach but a further 15% included discussion in both
the front and back half of the annual report, as figure 42 shows
below.

Of the 21 companies giving disclosure in the front half, clear cross-
referencing between front & back halves was seen in 10 companies.

The number of pages in the notes devoted to financial instruments
was surveyed. Figure 43 below shows that it ranged from 5% of
companies providing no specific notes on financial instruments to
5% of companies (all of which were financial institutions) giving
over 10 pages of such notes. There was also a clear correlation
between the length of such disclosures and the size of the company,
with an average of nine, three and two pages across the top, middle
and smallest companies respectively.

12. Financial instruments*

• 80% of companies adopt or early adopt IFRS 7.

• 67% of companies present their IFRS 7 disclosures solely in 
the notes to the financial statements.

• 5% of companies provide no financial instruments notes, 
whilst 5% have over 10 pages.

• 56% of companies disclose both the impairment loss for the 
year and provision in place in respect of trade receivables.

Figure 42. Where have the IFRS 7 risk disclosures been presented?
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Figure 43. How long are the clearly identified notes on financial instruments?
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Prior to FRS 29 (IFRS7) Financial Instruments: Disclosures, UK GAAP
never called directly for companies to disclose their bad debts
provisions against trade receivables. For IFRS-reporters this came in
from 2005 but it has not been entirely clear whether the required
disclosure was merely the bad debt provision set off against trade
receivables in the balance sheet or whether the income statement
movement for the period was also necessary. Paragraph 16 of IFRS 
7 now calls for a reconciliation of changes in allowance accounts by
class of financial asset, thus ensuring that all movements are
disclosed. The results from the companies surveyed showed that
56% clearly give both balance sheet and income statement
amounts, while 18% apparently failed to give either, as illustrated
by figure 44.

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.
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IFRS 7 requires companies to provide information to enable users 
to evaluate the nature and extent of risks arising from financial
instruments. It refers to these risks typically being credit, liquidity
and market risks. 

For liquidity risks, paragraph 39 of IFRS 7 calls for:

• a maturity analysis for financial liabilities that shows the
remaining contractual maturities; and

• a description of how liquidity risk therein is managed.

Figure 44. Has the impairment loss for the year and the provision at the 
year end in respect of trade receivables been disclosed?

Yes

Neither Not applicable

Year end provision only Charge to income statement only

21%

56%

4%

18%

1%

68% of companies disclosed information that clearly met this
requirement. A good example of maturity analysis disclosure is taken
from the 2007 Annual Report and Accounts of Abbey National Plc.

Market risk is “the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk”. As reported in “Write from
the start” foreign currency risk is widely discussed in annual reports
and is the most commonly disclosed risk in the EBR’s principal risks
and uncertainties section. This survey also reviewed the extent to
which companies discussed their exposure to interest rate risks and
found that 68% of companies did so.

As the 2007/8 reporting season has been the first period for
reporting in accordance with IFRS 7, it is expected that disclosures
on financial instruments will improve as companies become more
familiar with the new standard and how it is being applied in
practice.

Abbey National Plc, “2007 Annual Report and Accounts” (Extract from Business and Financial Review)

27387 rt Right to the end:27387 Right to the endrt  18/11/08  11:50  Page 33



34

Right to the end
Surveying financial statements in annual reports

Two-thirds of the companies surveyed recognised provisions in their
financial statements. IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets is very prescriptive in terms of the items that must
be disclosed for each class of provision, most of which are
straightforward. It was surprising to see some companies failing to
meet the disclosure requirements on a number of occasions. It may
be that in some of those cases the disclosures had not been
provided due to the immaterial nature or value of the provision.

In the current economic climate transparency of a company’s
financial position and of its outstanding liabilities at any given point
is fundamental in providing the reader of the financial statements
with an understanding of the company’s position. The survey
findings indicated that companies were failing to provide all the
necessary information in this respect. 

Companies can be exempt from providing all of the detail required
for provisions in extremely rare cases if disclosure is considered to
prejudice seriously the position of the entity in a dispute with other
parties on the subject matter of the provision. No such cases were
found in the companies surveyed.

Of the 66 companies which recognised provisions, the vast majority
(92%) provided a description of the obligation, as shown in figure
45. Of the five companies which failed to describe the nature of
each obligation for which a provision had been made, four had
provisions which were relatively self-explanatory from the names of
the provisions provided (such as onerous lease provision, or
professional fees provision). However, the fifth company provided
explanations for two of its provisions, being deferred consideration
and leases, but failed to provide a description of the “other”
provision.

As illustrated by figure 46, 80% of relevant companies met the IAS
37 requirement to provide details of the expected timing of any
resulting outflows for provisions. No explanation was given by the
other 20% of companies, although in many cases the classification
of provisions as either current, non-current or both provides some
indication of the expected timing of the outflows of economic
benefit. Only 38% of those companies with provisions disclosed
particular uncertainties around the timing of the associated outflows.

13. Provisions*

• 66% of companies recognise provisions.

• 92% of companies with provisions give a description of the 
obligation.

• 80% of companies provide details around the expected timing
of outflows.

Figure 45. Has a description of the nature of the obligation(s) been provided?
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*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.
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Over three quarters of relevant companies did not disclose the major
assumptions concerning future events relating to provisions held at
the year-end, as shown by figure 47 below. This disclosure is
required by IAS 37 only where it is “necessary to provide adequate
information”. This most likely explains the low proportion of
companies providing such a disclosure.

27% of relevant companies disclosed the unwinding of any discounts
on provisions, as shown by figure 48 below. Discounting is required
where its effect is material. It is likely that the low level of disclosures
in this area is because few companies had discounted their provisions
(particularly if they are expected to be utilised within a year).

Figure 46. Has the expected timing of any resulting outflows of economic 
benefit been disclosed?
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Figure 47. Have major assumptions concerning future events been 
considered?
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Figure 48. Has the unwinding on any discount on provisions been disclosed?
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Overall, only three companies clearly complied with all the
requirements of IAS 37 that were examined in this survey. 
Three other companies complied with all the requirements other
than disclosing the possible unwinding of any discounts.
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Share based payments

88% of companies included in the survey had share option schemes
in place at the year-end. 12 companies did not, eight of which were
within the smallest 350 companies, three within the middle group
and only one company from the top 350 companies. 

IFRS 2 Share-based payment has an extensive list of disclosure
requirements to enable users to understand the nature and extent
of share-based payment arrangements. The FRRP 2007 activity
report commented on three areas where disclosure on these
arrangements could be improved. These have been reviewed in
more detail below and overall there was a reasonably high level 
of compliance for these across the sample.

As shown in figure 49, share options had been exercised during the
period in 71 of the 88 companies with schemes. 64 of these
companies (90%) disclosed the weighted average share price at the
date of exercise. Seven companies (10%) did not provide this
disclosure. The mid group performed best in this area with all except
one relevant company (97%) disclosing the weighted average share
price at the date of exercise, compared to 94% of the top 350
companies and 84% of the smallest 350 companies. 

Figure 50 below shows that the level of disclosure of the range of
exercise prices for share options outstanding at the end of the
period was slightly lower. 84% of companies with schemes did
provide this disclosure. From the middle group six relevant companies
(20%) omitted this information, as did five of the smallest 
350 companies (20%) and two of the top 350 companies (6%) 
with share-based payment schemes.  

14.Share based payments, retirement benefits 
and related parties*

• 88% of companies have share option schemes.

• All companies granting share options provide information on 
how fair value is calculated.

• 88% of companies with defined benefit pension schemes 
recognise actuarial gains and losses in the SORIE.

• 50% of companies fail to define key management personnel.

Figure 49. Has the weighted average share price at the date of exercise 
been disclosed?

Yes No None exercised
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8%

19%

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.

Figure 50. For share options outstanding at the end of the period has 
the range of exercise prices been disclosed?
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It is not surprising that most companies (93%) recognised these
gains and losses in the SORIE as this is the most similar treatment to
the one which would have been applied historically under UK GAAP.
Two of the banks and one retailer used the corridor approach for
recognising actuarial gains and losses and only one company
recognised actuarial gains and losses immediately in the income
statement. 
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Figure 52 below shows which policy the companies in the survey
adopted for recognising actuarial gains and losses.

Figure 51. Has the weighted average remaining contractual life been 
disclosed?

Yes No Not applicable

72%

27%

1%

Not all of the companies which provided information on the range
of exercise prices also disclosed the weighted average remaining
contractual life for share options outstanding at the end of the
period. However, almost three quarters of companies (72%) with
share option schemes did, as shown by figure 51 above. All the
outstanding share options of one company were exercised within
seven days of the year-end and for this reason the company did not
provide information on remaining contractual life.  

Share options were granted during the period in 89% of companies
with schemes. There was a high level of compliance with the
disclosure requirements of IFRS 2 in this area, as all of these
companies provided information on how the fair value was
measured. 

Retirement benefit schemes

61 companies in the survey had defined benefit retirement schemes.
The 39 which did not were split fairly evenly between the middle
group (18) and smallest 350 companies (19). There were only two
companies in the top 350 companies which did not have a defined
benefit pension scheme.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits allows a number of options for the
recognition of actuarial gains and losses. At a minimum, to the
extent that the unrecognised gains and losses exceed a corridor of
10% of the defined benefit obligation, then that excess is recognised
in the income statement over a specified time span. This is known 
as the ‘corridor’ approach and is the most significant difference
between IAS 19 and its UK GAAP equivalent, FRS 17 Retirement
Benefits. FRS 17 requires actuarial gains and losses to be recognised
immediately in the statement of total recognised gains and losses
(STRGL). IAS 19 also permits systematic methods of faster recognition
of actuarial gains and losses provided that the basis is consistent,
including immediate recognition in the income statement or
immediate recognition outside the income statement and in the
SORIE.

Figure 52. What is the policy for recognising actuarial gains and losses?

Income statement SORIE Corridor
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Figure 53. Is there a narrative description of the basis used to determine
the overall expected rate of return on plan assets?
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As shown in figure 55, only 39% of companies defined the
terminology “key management personnel”. This includes direct
reference to lists of directors and other management in the annual
report. 13% of companies produced generic statements such as 
“key management personnel are considered to be operational
management”, without defining operational management either 
in the financial statements or elsewhere in the annual report. 
The remaining 48% of companies surveyed had not defined key
management personnel. While IAS 24 does not require disclosure of 
a definition of key management personnel, it is good practice to do so.
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Companies with defined benefit pension schemes must describe in
their financial statements the basis used to determine the overall
expected rate of return on plan assets. All relevant companies in the
survey provided some information on the expected rate of return on
plan assets. However, as shown in figure 53, only 72% of companies
with defined benefit pension schemes also provided a narrative
description of the basis used to determine this measure. 
Companies in the top 350 performed best in this area with 81% of
relevant companies disclosing the information. The middle group
performed worst with only 47% compliance, while 79% of the
relevant smallest 350 companies included a narrative description of
the basis for the rate of return on plan assets.

Related parties

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures requires disclosure of related party
relationships and transactions between related parties during the
period. Certain disclosure requirements of IAS 24 are often
positioned within other parts of the financial statements (such as 
the key management personnel compensation which is commonly
disclosed either in a staff costs note or in the remuneration report).
However it is generally accepted that the financial statements will
contain a related parties note. 10 companies in the survey (10%)
were noted not have a separate related parties note.

Figure 54. Is the actual return on plan assets disclosed?
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IAS 19 also requires disclosure of the actual return on plan assets.
Compliance in this area was slightly better, with 80% of companies
disclosing the actual return. However, four companies in each of the
groupings failed to provide this disclosure.

One of the other principal actuarial assumptions that must be
disclosed is the discount rate. One company disclosed that there had
been a change in the discount rate assumption to reflect changes in
long term corporate bond yields. All other companies listed the
principal actuarial assumptions used at the end of the reporting
period but provided little further narrative or explanation.

As discussed in section 9, IAS 1 requires companies to disclose
information about the assumptions it makes about the future and
other major sources of estimation uncertainty, at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year. 43 companies referred to their pension
obligations in such disclosures.

Figure 55. Have key management personnel been defined?

Yes No Unclear
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Figure 56 shows whether the term “key management personnel”
had been defined within the related parties note. In one case, as
there was no separate related parties note, key management had
been defined within the staff costs note. Of the remaining 50% of
companies who defined the term, either with a specific or generic
statement, 41% did so within the related parties note. The remaining
9% did so elsewhere.

An example of where terminology was clearly defined and a
sufficient level of disclosure was provided is in the related party
transactions note to the financial statements of M J Gleeson Group
Plc, below.

Figure 56. Was the definition of key management personnel within the
related parties note?

Yes No Not applicable

41%

10%

49%

MJ Gleeson Group Plc, “Report and Accounts”
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Subsidiaries

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements requires
disclosure in the consolidated financial statements of the nature of
the relationship between the parent and a subsidiary when the
parent does not own, directly or indirectly, through subsidiaries,
more than half of the voting power. As indicated in figure 57 below,
this disclosure was not applicable for the majority of companies in
the survey. Only one company, which had consolidated an entity
where there was 20% indirect ownership, failed to disclose the
nature of the relationship. 

With the exception of the special purpose entities (SPEs) held by one
bank, and discussed in more detail below, no instances were noted
whereby ownership of more than half of the voting power or
potential voting power did not constitute control.

In contrast, ten companies disclosed detail of entities consolidated
as if they were a subsidiary but where the parent did not own more
than half of the voting power.

IAS 27 requires the consolidated financial statements to include all
subsidiaries of the parent.

The vast majority of relevant companies (98%) had no disclosure
regarding entities excluded from consolidation. Two companies
disclosed detail of such excluded entities. The first company was 
a bank. It held share capital in SPEs which had been created for
purposes such as securitisation. The reasons given for exclusion 
rom consolidation were that the company either did not direct the
financial and operating policies of such entities or on the grounds
that another entity had a superior economic interest in them (i.e. 
the SPEs were not subsidiaries). There were two other banks in the
survey which did not disclose any off-balance sheet entities.

The second company which had excluded a subsidiary from
consolidation did so on the basis that access to reliable, verifiable
and objective financial information was not available. The disclosure
within the financial statements included the reported profit and net
assets of the excluded subsidiary.

There were no instances identified where there had been changes
from prior year as to which entities were consolidated.

On the horizon

The IASB currently has a consolidation project on its agenda. 
The project objective is to publish a single IFRS on consolidation
replacing IAS 27 and the interpretation SIC-12 Consolidation –
Special Purpose Entities. The project addresses the following aspects: 

• a revision of the control definition to apply the same control
criteria to all entities. This will focus on the consolidation of
structured entities; and

• enhanced disclosures about consolidated and non-consolidated
entities.

The IASB expects to publish an exposure draft by the end of 2008.

15.Subsidiaries, joint ventures and business 
combinations*

• 48% of acquisitions have the accounting determined 
provisionally.

• 27% of prior period acquisitions have fair value adjustments in
the current period.

• 2% of groups disclose non-consolidation entities.

• 79% of joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 
method.

*This section analyses the findings for all companies other than investment trusts.

27387 rt Right to the end:27387 Right to the endrt  18/11/08  11:50  Page 40



41

Right to the end
Surveying financial statements in annual reports

Joint ventures

A third of companies in the survey had interests in joint ventures 
at the period end. As shown in figure 58 below, more than three
quarters of these companies (79%) accounted for their interests 
in joint ventures using equity accounting. 

Business combinations

48% of companies in the survey disclosed that business
combinations had occurred in the reporting period. This comprised
82% of top 350 companies, 48% of the middle group and 18% of
the smallest 350 companies. 

Where at the end of an acquirer’s first accounting period following
the combination the fair value of the acquiree’s net assets can only
be determined on a provisional basis, IFRS 3 Business Combinations
requires that:

• the acquirer accounts for the business combination using
provisional fair values;

• the fact that provisional values have been used is disclosed; and 

• an explanation of why this is the case is given.

As indicated in figure 59 below, half of the companies with business
combinations stated explicitly that the initial accounting had been
determined provisionally. There was only one company where it was
not clear whether or not the initial accounting was provisional.

Figure 58. Have joint ventures been accounted for using the equity 
accounting method or proportionate consolidation?

Equity Proportional

21%

79%

On the horizon

In September 2007 the IASB published ED 9 Joint Arrangements
which proposed a replacement to the current standard, IAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures. The most significant changes proposed
were:

• to shift the focus in accounting for joint arrangements away from
the legal form of the arrangements and on to the contractual
rights and obligations agreed by the parties; and

• to remove the choice currently available for accounting for jointly
controlled entities (equity method or proportionate consolidation)
by requiring parties to recognise both the individual assets to
which they have rights and the liabilities for which they are
responsible, even if the joint arrangement operates in a separate
legal entity. If the parties only have a right to a share of the
outcome of the activities, their net interest in the arrangement
would be recognised using the equity method.

The IASB is currently considering the comment letters received 
on the exposure draft, in particular as many respondents disagreed
with the removal of the proportionate consolidation method. 
The publication of a new standard is currently expected in the
second quarter of 2009.

Figure 59. Has the initial accounting been determined provisionally?

Yes No No evidence

48% 50%

2%

Companies were less successful at explaining why the initial
accounting for the business combination had been determined
provisionally, with only 42% of relevant companies providing an
explanation. Compliance was best amongst the smallest 
350 companies with 67% of relevant companies providing this
information. 54% of relevant top 350 companies included this
disclosure and the middle group performed least well with only
13% giving an explanation.
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Adjustments to provisional values may be made within twelve
months of the acquisition date and accounted for as if they were
made at the acquisition date. 45% of companies had reported 
a business combination in the prior year. The survey considered
whether any retrospective adjustments had been made to previously
reported provisional fair values. Only 27% of relevant companies
reported that they had made adjustments of this nature.

IFRS 3 requires a description of the factors that contributed to the
recognition of goodwill and of each intangible asset that was not
recognised separately from goodwill, together with an explanation
of why the intangible assets’ fair value could not be measured
reliably. Only ten companies (21% of companies with business
combinations during the period) clearly provided information that
was specific to the transaction. Other companies made very brief
generic statements, such as goodwill represented ‘operating
synergies’ or ‘anticipated profit from the distribution of products to
new markets’.

Companies performed better at disclosing the revenue and profit or
loss of the combined entity for the period as if the acquisition date
for all business combinations during the period had been the
beginning of the period. 79% of relevant companies provided this
information. Of those ten companies that did not, one disclosed
that this was because the impact was immaterial. 

Figure 60. Has the reason for provisional accounting been disclosed?
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Figure 61. Has each intangible asset not recognised separately from
goodwill been described?

Yes No

79%

21%

Figure 62. Has the revenue and profit of loss or the combined entity been 
disclosed as if all business combinations during the period had been 
entered into on the first day of the period?

Yes No
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On the horizon

In January 2008 the IASB issued a revised IFRS 3 Business
Combinations and a revised IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements which will, subject to EU endorsement, be
effective for business combinations occurring in periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2009. In so doing, the IASB achieved substantial
convergence between IFRSs and US GAAP on these topics. 
Five headline changes will be brought about by the 2008 standards,
as summarised below.

Acquisition costs
All acquisition costs are to be recognised as period expenses and
generally written off rather than added to the cost of acquisition.
Costs incurred to issue debt or equity securities will continue to 
be recognised in accordance with the standards on financial
instruments.

Contingent consideration
Consideration for an acquisition, including any contingent
consideration, is recognised and measured at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in those fair values can affect
the measurement of goodwill only where they occur during the
‘measurement period’ and are as a result of additional information
becoming available about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date. All other changes are dealt with in accordance
with relevant IFRSs. This will usually mean that changes in the fair
value of contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Partial acquisitions
A partial acquisition refers to the acquisition of a controlling interest,
but with a proportion of the acquiree’s equity interests held by other
investors referred to as ‘non controlling interests’ (formerly minority
interests). A choice is available, on an acquisition by acquisition
basis, to measure such non-controlling interests either at their
proportionate interest in the net identifiable assets of the acquiree
(current IFRS 3 requirement) or at fair value (a new option and
mandatory under US GAAP).

Step acquisitions
A step acquisition refers to obtaining a controlling interest through
two or more separate transactions. A business combination occurs,
and acquisition accounting is applied, only at the date that control 
is achieved. Consequently, goodwill is identified and net assets
measured at fair value only for the transaction that achieved control
and not in any earlier or subsequent acquisitions of equity interests.
In measuring goodwill, any previously-held interests in the acquiree
are first remeasured to fair value, with any gain or loss recognised 
in the income statement. Similarly, on disposal of a controlling
interest, any residual interest is remeasured to fair value and the
gain or loss is reflected in any profit or loss on disposal.

Transactions with non-controlling interests
Once control has been achieved and acquisition accounting applied,
any subsequent transactions in subsidiary equity interests between
the parent and non-controlling interests are accounted for as equity
transactions. Consequently, additional goodwill does not arise on
any increase in the parent interest, there is no remeasurement of net
assets to fair value and no gain or loss is recognised on any decrease
in the parent’s interest.
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This section analyses the findings for the 30 investment trusts
included in the survey, being those companies classified by the 
Stock Exchange as being in the industries of non-equity or equity
investment instruments (this excludes real estate investment trusts).
As with the other companies surveyed, investment trusts have been
split into three categories being those within the top 350 companies
by market capitalisation at 29 April 2008, those in the smallest 
350 by market capitalisation, and those that fall in between those
categories (the ‘middle’ group). Three of these companies are
registered in Guernsey and one in Jersey, and therefore are not
subject to UK Company Law. Where these have affected the results
of the survey, this has been discussed in more detail below.

Overview

As described in the Deloitte publication “Write from the start”:

• the average length of annual reports for investment trusts was 
48 pages. The investment trusts in the top 350 companies had
annual reports with an average length of 57 pages;

• financial statements on average made up 37% of the annual
report and narrative reporting the remaining 63%;

• the average time taken for investment trusts to approve their
accounts was 86 days for those in the smallest 350 companies,
74 days for the middle group and 59 days for those in the top
350 companies; and

• all trusts approved their accounts within the four month limit
now coming into force under the DTR for periods beginning on
or after 20 January 2007.

Primary statements

Reporting framework
As illustrated in figure 63, 27% of trusts surveyed were parent
companies within a group and in preparing consolidated accounts
as a listed entity were required to adopt IFRSs. Another 13% of the
trusts were single entities who chose to adopt IFRSs, of which 10%
were registered in Guernsey and 3% were incorporated in the UK.
The remaining 60% were stand-alone trusts who continued to
report under UK GAAP.

The Association of Investment Companies (AIC) issued a Statement
of Recommended Practice (SORP) in December 2005, setting out
best practice for investment trust companies across a range of
accounting issues. The vast majority (87%) of trusts surveyed had
prepared accounts in accordance with the SORP in so far as it was
practicable. In some instances the SORP and IFRSs have contradictory
requirements, for example, the SORP requires a reconciliation of
movements in shareholders’ funds (RMSF) and a STRGL, whereas
IFRSs requires a SOCIE. In such cases, companies applied IFRSs
instead. Further information around the statements disclosing
movements in equity is given below.

One venture capital trust applied the SORP despite not being an
investment company as defined by the Companies Act 1985. 
The absence of this status did not preclude it from applying the
SORP though and, because of the sector in which the trust was
operating, the directors considered it appropriate to present
financial statements in this manner. In July this year the AIC issued
an exposure draft of a SORP for both investment trusts and venture
capital trusts. This revised SORP may also change the requirements
around disclosing realised profits and distributable reserves.

Income statement
IFRSs require an “income statement” to be presented as a primary
statement, and for those trusts reporting under UK GAAP the SORP
also recommends this title. Only two trusts still had a “profit and
loss account” instead of an “income statement”. This was however
appropriate given that the they were venture capital trusts preparing
accounts under UK GAAP and were not applying the AIC’s SORP.

16.Investment trusts

Figure 63. Under which frameworks are investment trusts reporting?
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The companies stating that they had applied the SORP presented 
a revenue, capital and total column on the face as required. 97% of
companies presented the return per share at the foot of their
income statement and only one company applying the SORP failed
to meet the additional requirement to analyse return per share
between capital and revenue. Interestingly, 30% of companies
referred to this as “earnings per share”. 

Unlike the other companies surveyed, none of the investment 
trusts in the survey stripped out any exceptional items or presented
non-GAAP measures on the face of their income statement. 
The consistency in the presentation of the income statement by the
investment trusts population of the survey undoubtedly aided their
comparability. The comparability is driven by investment trusts all
carrying on business of a similar nature. In addition, the existence of
industry-specific guidance in the form of a SORP certainly promotes
consistency and best practices for entities. This in turn improves
comparability for users of financial statements.

Balance sheet
Aside from two trusts registered in Guernsey, all the trusts presented
their balance sheet with current and non-current assets and liabilities
categories. The two Guernsey companies simply presented an
‘assets’ category and a ‘liabilities’ category, without distinguishing
between current and non-current items or putting them in order of
liquidity.

Current and deferred tax balances were rarely disclosed on the face
of the balance sheet as required by IAS 1. In a number of cases the
balances were immaterial, as franked dividend income received by
the trusts from other UK companies has already been taxed at its
source and the recipient is not subjected to corporation tax. 
Capital gains recognised by an investment trust are also not subject
to UK corporation tax.

All trusts disclosed their net asset value per share at the foot of their
balance sheet, thus fulfilling a requirement of the SORP. Only one
company then failed to provide a note to the accounts detailing
how the number had been calculated.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statements presented were relatively consistent 
across the companies sampled. As expected, all companies showed
dividends and interest received as cash flows from operating
activities. Where interest was paid, 70% of the trusts disclosed it
under the category “Servicing finance” or “Financing” (the relevant
headings under UK GAAP and IFRSs respectively) and 30% showed
it under operating activities. Where dividends were paid, those trusts
reporting under UK GAAP disclosed them as a separate item in
accordance with FRS 1 Cash Flow Statements, whilst those reporting
under IFRSs classified them under financing activities as permitted 
by IAS 7.

Other primary statements
As mentioned previously, the SORP states that all companies should
present as primary statements a STRGL and a RMSF. Over half the
trusts (57%) presented only a RMSF, stating that a STRGL was not
required since all gains and losses were already included in their
income statement. All the companies preparing accounts under IFRSs
had accordingly presented a SOCIE. One company surveyed which
reported under UK GAAP failed to disclose a RMSF or a STRGL.

Accounting policies

For the trusts applying IFRSs, 58% met the requirement of IAS 8 to
disclose standards and IFRICs in issue but not yet effective. In these
cases, all those companies went on to describe whether these new
rules and areas of guidance would have an impact on their financial
statements. No instances of early adoption of standards, IFRICs or
UITFs (for trusts under UK GAAP) were noted.

The description around revenue recognition varied in length and 
as expected, the largest companies tended to provide the most
information. Surprisingly, smaller companies were seen to be
providing more detail than medium size companies as illustrated in
figure 64 below. 70% of the medium-sized companies were seen 
to provide less than 50 words on the subject, whereas none of the
top 350 or bottom 350 by market capitalisation provided less than
50 words.

MiddleTop 350
by market

capitalisation

Bottom 350
by market

capitalisation

Figure 64. How long is the revenue recognition policy?
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Financial instruments

The length of disclosures around financial instruments varied
considerably, ranging from one to eight pages in the annual reports
surveyed. Given the nature of investment trusts, a reasonable
amount of information was expected to be provided in this area.
The average length was just under three pages.
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90% of companies surveyed provided information around their
exposure to interest rate risks in respect of their assets and liabilities.
97% of companies also provided details around their liquidity risk,
its management and a maturity profile of their liabilities where
borrowings existed. This information was typically well presented 
in a tabular format, with some companies fulfilling the FRS 29
requirement of including a sensitivity analysis. A good example 
was Foreign & Colonial Investment Trust PLC as shown below.

There was no evidence that the credit crunch had prompted new
disclosures in the notes to the financial statements. 73% of
companies had however provided information in the front half of
their annual reports regarding the credit crunch and its impact.
Some of those companies who did not comment were investing in
markets where the credit crunch had not had such a notable impact
at that time e.g. Japan. A small number of trusts however did not
refer to the credit crunch despite operating in markets that had
been impacted.

Only one company surveyed, having followed relevant industry
guidance, carried their unlisted investments at cost, although this
was subject to impairment. All other companies were recording the
investments at fair value, typically considering factors such as the
price of similar investments, any recent arms-length transactions, 
net asset values and earnings multiples.

Other notes to the financial statements

Two of the annual reports included a segmental analysis of the
business, both on a geographical basis. In all other instances, such 
a disclosure was not deemed necessary by the directors, with similar
information being provided in the investment analysis typically
provided in the front half of the annual report.

Where companies had in place any provisions a description was
always given in the notes to the financial statements.

Of those trusts with a summary page towards the start of their
annual report, 93% had included a mixture of GAAP measures
taken from the primary statements as well as other performance
indicators. Typical headline figures included net asset value, revenue
and capital returns plus dividends declared. Of those companies
who had disclosed GAAP measures, only 35% had adjusted any of
those figures, often adjusting borrowings to their fair value instead
of their carrying par values. A balance needs to be struck in terms of
providing both relevant and transparent information to the users of
financial statements and it was interesting to note that the majority
of companies appeared content not to adjust their GAAP figures.

Disclosures under the SORP

The SORP sets out a number of disclosures that should be made 
by investment trusts. As detailed below, adherence to these
requirements was particularly strong in some areas but weak 
in others.

Foreign & Colonial Investment Trust PLC, “Report and Accounts 2007”

All companies applied FRS 26 (IAS 39) Financial Instruments:
Measurement or IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to measure their investments at fair value through
profit and loss. Based on their accounting periods 47% of the trusts
fell within the scope of IFRS 7 or FRS 29. The impact of the new
standard for investment trusts was less notable compared to the
other companies in the survey. FRS 13 Derivatives and Other
Financial Instruments: disclosures and IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation already required disclosures around certain financial
risks, exposures and the maturity profile of liabilities, and investment
trusts are unlikely to have financial assets such as receivables that
are past due, which would have required new disclosures.

77% of companies had cross-referenced in some way their discussion
around financial risks and uncertainties between the directors’ report
and the relevant notes to the financial statements. Typically, the
directors’ report contained no information in this area and merely
referred the reader to the relevant notes for further information. 
A number of companies undertook hedging activities as part of a risk
management policy, but only 7% of companies went so far as to
apply FRS 26’s or IAS 39’s hedge accounting. Another 7% were
unclear as to whether they applied hedge accounting.
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Costs
The allocation of finance costs, investment management fees and any performance-related fees were all examined as part of the survey. 
The results are as shown in figure 65 below.

Investment portfolio
Trusts are required to disclose a broad geographical and industrial
analysis of their portfolio under the SORP, specifically listing all
investments representing 5% or more of their portfolio and as 
a minimum their ten largest investments. 

Where investing in more than one location and one industry, the
SORP’s requirement for a broad geographical and industrial analysis
was met in 93% of cases. This included some trusts that were not
applying the SORP, but which still believed such information to be
useful. All but one of the trusts providing this information disclosed
it in the front half of their annual report.

53% of companies disclosed their entire investment portfolio and
the remaining 47% all disclosed at least their top ten investments by
size. The number of investments disclosed in these cases varied from
ten to just over 50 and in most cases still covered the majority of
their portfolio. Two companies explained that a full list was too long
for inclusion in their annual report, although this information could
be found on their website.

Figure 65. How are costs allocated between revenue and capital?
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Finance costs Investment management fees Performance fees

Finance costs showed the greatest variation, with 38% allocating
the costs solely to the revenue account, whilst 62% allocated it
between revenue and capital. Most companies (69%) split
investment management fees between the two accounts and in 
all instances companies detailed their basis for allocation as required
by the SORP. 78% of companies allocated any performance fees in
their entirety to the capital account, with the remainder splitting it
between capital and revenue.

The SORP also states that transaction costs incurred both in
acquiring and disposing of investments should be disclosed. Only
57% of trusts included this information in the notes to their
accounts.

Reserves
The majority of trusts failed to disclose clearly which of their 
reserves were distributable and their movements in the year. 
Only four companies clearly presented this information, another
three quoted a total distributable figure at the year-end and the
remaining majority did not disclose any information about the total
distributable reserves. Whilst clear disclosure of this information is 
a recommendation of the SORP, it may well be that the trusts
presume their readers already know which reserves are distributable.
The few trusts that did clearly present this, did so in an efficient
manner, providing clarification under their reserves note (which
already lists movements in the year) as to which were distributable.
All but one of the trusts applying the SORP had as recommended
analysed their capital reserves between realised and unrealised, 
72% showing this on the face of the balance sheet and the other
28% in the notes to the financial statements.
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Under the Combined Code on Corporate Governance the audit committee has a number of duties, one of which is responsibility for
monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the company. Audit committee members may wish to consider the following
questions on financial statements to satisfy this duty.

Accounting policies

4. Are the accounting policies disclosed relevant and tailored
to your company?

5. Have the critical judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty used in preparing your financial statements
been adequately considered and disclosed?

Appendix 1 – Top ten audit committee questions
on financial statements

Compliance

1. Are you aware of the standards and interpretations
applicable to your company now and in the foreseeable
future?

As discussed in chapter 3, financial reporting requirements
continue to grow in number and complexity. The period of
stability which the IASB introduced following the transition to
IFRS in 2005 is now over and there are a number of significant
changes to standards on the horizon. It is important to
understand which standards currently apply to your company
and the impact of those in issue but not yet effective.

Length of financial statements

2. Are you presenting the required information in a succinct
and informative way?

It may be tempting for companies to meet increasing disclosure
requirements by including standardised ‘boiler plate’ wording.
However, this does not facilitate a user’s understanding of the
performance and position of the business. The FRRP encourages
the deletion of redundant information. The numbers in the
financial statements should be presented in a format that is easy
to understand. The accompanying narrative should be specific
and relevant to the individual company. The information
provided should be comprehensive but concise.

Primary statements

3. Does the presentation of the primary statements provide
readers with readily understandable and comparable
information? Are any non-GAAP measures clearly
identified, justified and defined? 

Many companies consider measures, such as operating profit
before exceptional items, relevant to understanding their
business. Additional non-GAAP measures on the face of the
income statement should be presented clearly and the reason
why such a presentation is relevant to an understanding of the
entity’s financial performance should be given. Non-GAAP
measures should be presented consistently year on year so that
the company’s results are comparable in all periods presented.
Regardless of which additional non-GAAP measures are
presented, companies should ensure that the minimum
requirements of IAS 1 are met.

As discussed above, it is important that disclosures are not
‘boiler-plate’ and refer to the specific issues faced by the
individual company. In its 2008 activity report the FRRP has
commented that “directors will need to pay particular attention
to disclosure of key assumptions and key sources of estimation
uncertainties during the forthcoming reporting season given
recent developments and continuing difficulties within the
financial markets”.

6. Does your revenue recognition policy clearly explain how
revenue is recognised in your business?

The description of the revenue recognition policy should be
sufficient to ensure that users understand the bases of
recognition for each significant revenue stream. There should be
consistency between a company’s business model, as discussed
in the narrative sections, and the range of goods and/or services
for which revenue recognition policies are disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements. This is of particular importance in the
current economic environment. For example, the FRRP has
highlighted that “uncertainties about changes in market and
other conditions will require some companies to consider
whether revenue should be deferred due to an unacceptable
level of uncertainty about the reliability of measurement”.

Notes to the financial statements

7. Are all material balances in your financial statements
clearly described? 

Many companies in the survey failed to comply clearly with
straightforward disclosure requirements, in particular, providing
descriptions of provisions and reserves. It is important that all
material balances are described in sufficient detail to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other
events or conditions on the entity’s financial position or
performance.
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8. Is there adequate disclosure of the risks that arise from
financial instruments and how they have been managed? 

IFRS 7 requires disclosure of information around the nature and
extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the
company is exposed at the reporting date. These risks typically
include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. In the current
economic climate it is even more important that disclosure is
sufficient to understand the risks attached to financial
instruments.

True and fair view

9. Do the financial statements give a true and fair view?

Directors should satisfy themselves that, from an overall review
of the financial statements, no material information is missing
and the financial statements they approve are appropriate.  
The continued relevance of the ‘true and fair’ concept to the
preparation and audit of financial statements was confirmed by
a legal opinion in May this year. The conclusion that the financial
statements show a true and fair view should not solely be based
on compliance with applicable accounting standards but should
also consider their overall integrity.

Auditors’ report

10. Are you receiving a modified audit opinion and if so do
you understand why? Can the area of non-compliance be
addressed for future financial statements?

In June 2008 the FRRP announced its interest in company
accounts which are qualified by their auditors for breach of
accounting requirements, on the basis that the financial
statements may not be properly prepared in accordance with 
the law nor give a true and fair view. Directors who presently
prepare accounts that do not comply with the law are
encouraged to address the non-compliance so that neither the
audit qualification nor an FRRP enquiry is necessary in future. 

Where a listed company has chosen to produce a preliminary
announcement, this must include details of any likely
modification to the audit opinion in the annual report.
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AIC Association of Investment Companies

The Association of Investment Companies is the trade organisation
for the closed-ended investment company industry. Amongst other
initiatives, it provides technical support and guidance to members
and their advisers in areas such as accounting, tax, company law
and regulation.

ASB Accounting Standards Board

The role of the Accounting Standards Board is to issue UK
accounting standards. The ASB also collaborates with accounting
standard-setters from other countries and the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) both to influence the
development of international standards and to ensure that its
standards are developed with due regard to international
developments.

CGU Cash generating unit

DTR Disclosure and Transparency Rules

These rules, which include requirements for periodic financial
reporting, replace some of the Listing Rules and have been inserted
into the Disclosure Rules handbook of the Financial Services
Authority (FSA). The periodic financial reporting rules of DTR 4.1
apply to companies with shares and/or debt admitted to trading on
a regulated market for periods commencing on or after 20 January
2007. The corporate governance requirements of DTR 7 apply to the
same companies for periods commencing on or after 29 June 2008.

EBITA Earnings before interest, tax and amortisation

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation

EBR Enhanced Business Review

It is a requirement of the Companies Acts 1985 and 2006 that
directors’ reports include an Enhanced Business Review. This includes
a fair review of the business and a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the company.

EPS Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share shows the profits attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent during the period. Diluted earnings per
share adjusts this measure by assuming all dilutive potential ordinary
shares were converted to ordinary shares.

EU European Union

FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board

The body responsible for establishing financial accounting and
reporting standards in the USA.

FRRP Financial Reporting Review Panel

The body in the UK responsible for monitoring public and large
private companies’ compliance with accounting standards.

FSA Financial Services Authority 

The Financial Services Authority is an independent non-governmental
body, given statutory powers by the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000. The FSA regulates the financial services industry in the UK
and acts as the competent authority for setting and enforcing the
rules applicable to listed companies and those admitted to trading
on a regulated market.

FTSE 100/350 Financial Times Stock Exchange top
100/350 companies (share index)

GAAP Generally accepted accounting practice

IAS International accounting standard

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

The International Accounting Standards Board is an independent
body that issues International Financial Reporting Standards.

IFRIC International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee

The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
develop interpretations of IFRSs and IASs and provide timely guidance
on financial reporting issues not specifically addressed by existing
standards.

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard

Listed company

A company, any class of whose securities is listed (i.e. admitted to
the Official List of the UK Listing Authority).

Market capitalisation

A measure of company size calculated as share price multiplied by
the number of shares in issue at a certain point in time.

PPE Property, plant and equipment

Regulated market 

Regulated market is defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments
Directive. The European Commission website also includes a list of
regulated markets at:
http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/securities/isd/index_en.htm

RMSF Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

Appendix 2 – Glossary of terms and abbreviations

27387 rt Right to the end:27387 Right to the endrt  18/11/08  11:50  Page 50



51

Right to the end
Surveying financial statements in annual reports

RS The Reporting statement: Operating and Financial
Review

A statement of best practice on OFRs published by the ASB in
January 2006. 

SOCIE Statement of changes in equity

SORIE Statement of recognised income and expense

SORP Statement of Recommended Practice

A statement setting out recommendations, intended to represent
current best practice, on the form and contents of financial
statements.

Stock Exchange London Stock Exchange

STRGL Statement of total recognised gains and losses

UITF Urgent Issues Task Force

The UK equivalent of IFRIC which assists the ASB in interpreting
existing standards under UK GAAP.

UKLA UK Listing Authority

The FSA acting in its capacity as the competent authority for the
purposes of Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

How can we help?
Deloitte would be pleased to advise on specific application of the
principles set out in this publication. Professional advice should 
be obtained as this general advice cannot be relied upon to cover
specific situations; application will depend on the particular
circumstances involved. If you would like further, more detailed
information or advice, or would like to meet with us to discuss 
your financial reporting issues, please contact your local Deloitte
partner or:

Isobel Sharp isharp@deloitte.co.uk

Vicki Tibbitts vtibbitts@deloitte.co.uk

Rosie Ware rware@deloitte.co.uk

Peter Westaway pwestaway@deloitte.co.uk
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Partners who can assist in dealing with these issues are set out below:

Partner Telephone number
Board and Audit Committee Effectiveness Ian Krieger 020 7007 0864
Corporate Governance Martyn Jones 020 7007 0861
Financial Reporting Isobel Sharp 020 7007 0894
Corporate Responsibility Cindy Cahill 020 7007 2139
Executive Compensation Carol Arrowsmith 020 7007 2969
Boardroom Performance Management Sue Conder 020 7007 2991

Alternatively, please contact your local office.

London
Technology, Media & Telecoms Ian Waller 020 7007 3355
Products & Services Nikki Mitchell 020 7007 3341
Energy, Infrastructure & Utilities James Leigh 020 7007 0866
Tourism, Hospitality & Leisure Tim Steel 020 7007 0898
Real Estate Mark Beddy 020 7007 0830
Financial Services:
• Banking & Securities Oliver Grundy 020 7303 5312
• Financial Services Advisory William Higgins 020 7303 2936
• Insurance & Investment Management Mark Fitzpatrick 020 7303 5167
• Offshore Rick Garrard 01481 703206

Aberdeen Graeme Sheils 01224 847706
Belfast Gillian Russell 028 9053 1188
Birmingham Stephen Griggs 0121 695 5680
Bristol Stuart Woodward 0117 984 2710
Cambridge Richard Knights 01223 259534
Cardiff John Antoniazzi 029 2026 4280
Edinburgh Rick Ballard 0131 535 7734
Gatwick Graham Pickett 01293 761232
Glasgow David Bell 0141 304 5625
Guernsey Rick Garrard 01481 703206
Isle of Man Nick Evans 01624 641208
Jersey Chris Leck 01534 824344
Leeds Chris Powell 0113 292 1288
Newcastle Paul Feechan 0113 292 1199
North West Damien Sanders 0161 455 8100
Nottingham Peter Hipperson 0115 936 3716
Reading Greg Culshaw 0118 322 2221
Southampton Andrew Gordon 023 8035 4328
St Albans Paul Schofield 01727 885113

Please also refer to our website www.deloitte.co.uk

Contacts
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CompAct – Q&As on the 2006
Companies Act
This publication sets out the key areas of
change in the new Act and provides
answers to almost fifty questions on the
detail contained within it. In particular the
publication covers the new rules in the
following areas.

• Directors’ duties

• Shareholder rights

• Electronic communications

• Derivative claims

• The Business Review

• Voting of institutional shareholders

• Private company de-regulation

• Directors’ liability provisions

Reporting CompAct – More Q&As on
the 2006 Companies Act
This publication focuses on the areas of
the Act that came into force with a 6 April
2008 implementation date. The accounts
and audit provisions of the Act feature
prominently here, along with their
associated regulations. This publication
sets out the key areas of change coming
into force on 6 April 2008 and provides
answers to over thirty questions on the
detail contained within those provisions.

Catch the current – The audit
committee knowledge
This publication seeks to explain the raft 
of rules, regulations and guidance facing
audit committee members. It is a
comprehensive guide to the many aspects
of the role of an audit committee member.
The guide gives an insight into the main
issues for example, preparing an audit
committee report, communicating with
shareholders and appraising the external
auditors. Effective audit committees ask
the right questions and, to assist with this,
the guide provides questions on the key
components of an audit committee’s
responsibilities. Relevant checklists and
reports are included.

Right to the end
Surveying financial statements in annual reports

Write from the start – Surveying
narrative reporting in annual reports
This publication looks at what listed
companies are reporting in the narrative
sections in their annual reports. The 2008
survey builds on those performed between
1996 and 2007 and includes an overview
of current regulatory requirements and
latest developments, as well as “best
practice” examples. This year there has
been an increase in both the size of the
sample (with separate consideration of
investment trusts) and the scope of the
survey, which now includes a review of
corporate governance statements.

First IMpressionS – The first year's
interim management statements
This publication considers how UK listed
companies have implemented the new
requirements for a twice-yearly interim
management statement (IMS) in the first
year of compliance with the Disclosure
and Transparency Rules (DTR). In particular,
it surveys interim management statements
of UK listed companies (including separate
consideration of investment trusts),
reviews compliance with the new rules
and compares the findings to the 2007
Deloitte publications “Early Learning” and
“Early Learning II”. It also contains an
illustrative IMS, an IMS disclosure checklist
containing all the requirements and three
example IMSs.

Half a story – Surveying the first 
half-yearly financial reports under 
the new rules
This publication considers the new
Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR)
and their impact on half-yearly reporting
by UK listed companies. The publication
surveys the half-yearly financial reporting
practices by UK listed companies,
reviewing compliance with the new rules
and IAS 34, including comparisons to the
2007 Deloitte publication ‘Clear all year’. 
It also contains an illustrative half-yearly
financial report and a half-yearly financial
report disclosure checklist containing all
the requirements.

Other Deloitte publications

The following publications are available from the services/audit/corporate governance section of www.deloitte.co.uk
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Member of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (‘DTT’), a Swiss Verein, and its network of member firms,
each of which is a legally separate and independent entity. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk\about for a detailed
description of the legal structure of DTT and its member firms.

Deloitte & Touche LLP is the United Kingdom member firm of DTT.

This publication has been written in general terms and therefore cannot be relied on to cover specific situations;
application of the principles set out will depend upon the particular circumstances involved and we recommend that
you obtain professional advice before acting or refraining from acting on any of the contents of this publication.
Deloitte & Touche LLP would be pleased to advise readers on how to apply the principles set out in this publication 
to their specific circumstances. Deloitte & Touche LLP accepts no duty of care or liability for any loss occasioned to any
person acting or refraining from action as a result of any material in this publication.
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OC303675. A list of members’ names is available for inspection at Stonecutter Court, 1 Stonecutter Street, 
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